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          1  COMMITTEES ON GENERAL WELFARE AND IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Good morning.

          3  My name is Kendall Stewart and I am the Chair of the

          4  Immigration Committee.

          5                 First, I would like to give special

          6  thanks and recognition to my Co-Chair of General

          7  Welfare Committee, Councilman Bill DeBlasio, for

          8  being our key partner in this Hearing and for

          9  recognizing and supporting the need for a thorough

         10  discussion about this very important issue.

         11                 I would also like to thank those who

         12  are here to give testimony today, as your awareness

         13  and commitment to improving Child Welfare Services

         14  has been unwavering and very commendable.

         15                 Today, we will conduct a hearing

         16  designed to update the Council on the Administration

         17  for Childrens Services' effort to promote the best

         18  interest of the documented and undocumented

         19  immigrant children of New York City who are in their

         20  care.

         21                 At a previous hearing held last year,

         22  we were able to get a glimpse of the problems facing

         23  the Child Welfare System when caring for immigrant

         24  children.  One key problem identified through

         25  witness testimony is that the New York City Child
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          2  Welfare System does not yet have a structure in

          3  place to screen youth in foster care or juvenile

          4  justice proceedings for their eligibility for

          5  special immigration juvenile visas or crucial

          6  federal benefits.

          7                 For example, in 1990 Congress enacted

          8  an important immigration regulation that allows

          9  immigrant children who are in long- term foster care

         10  due to abuse, neglect, abandonment or guardianship

         11  to petition for lawful permanent resident status.

         12  As long as they are under the protection of the

         13  state court.  This status is called Special

         14  Immigrant Juvenile Status.  It is to their credit

         15  that Congress recognized that once a child ages- out

         16  of the system, their ability to achieve independent

         17  living critically depends on their immigrant status.

         18                 The Special Immigrant Juvenile Status

         19  application allows children who are neither U.S.

         20  Citizens nor lawful permanent residents the

         21  opportunity to become lawful permanent residents

         22  before being released.  For many children, filing a

         23  SIJS while in the state's custody will be their only

         24  practical opportunity to become lawful permanent

         25  residents.  Without this status adjustment, these
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          2  neglected children may not be able to obtain special

          3  social security numbers; they would not be able to

          4  live permanently in the United States nor obtain

          5  legal employment, travel freely, receive financial

          6  aid for school or even access most forms of public

          7  benefits.  Unfortunately, the number of youth who

          8  are granted SIJS or who receive federal assistance

          9  available to them is small compared to those who are

         10  entitled.

         11                 Another population of children

         12  eligible for SIJS which has been largely overlooked

         13  include those living under the care of a court

         14  appointed legal guardian.  Nationwide a large

         15  segment of abused, neglected and abandoned children

         16  receive protection through court supervised kinship

         17  care arrangements created outside our Child Welfare

         18  System.  Whether due to a lack of awareness or

         19  inadequate resources, few children in large

         20  guardianship have obtained their legal resident

         21  status through SIJS either.

         22                 It is important to note that once a

         23  child receives SIJS, Child Welfare agencies are able

         24  to save significant costs by receiving credible

         25  reimbursement for that child's care.  I realize it
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          2  is impossible to capture all the risks and barriers

          3  that these under- privileged population face but I

          4  also believe we can do better.

          5                 At this time I would ask my Co-Chair

          6  to give his opening statement.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman. Let me first note that we have been joined

          9  by two of our colleagues, Members of their

         10  respective Committees, Jessica Lappin (phonetic) and

         11  Mike Nelson.  We welcome them.

         12                 Mr. Chairman, I want to begin by

         13  offering my appreciation to you and your staff for

         14  the fact that you really have identified this issue

         15  and focused on it and helped bring it to life

         16  publicly.  I think back to the good old days when

         17  Council Member Stewart was a Member of the General

         18  Welfare Committee and we did have immigration issues

         19  as part of the purview of the Committee.  But I

         20  actually think it was a tremendous step forward for

         21  this City when immigration was made a full Committee

         22  with Council Member Stewart as its Chair.  I think a

         23  lot of good came from the very fact of that

         24  happening.  It wouldn't have happened without his

         25  advocacy to create that kind of focus here in the
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          2  Council on immigration issues.

          3                 But since the Committee's been

          4  established, I think you have done tremendous work

          5  raising a lot of tough issues, shining a light on

          6  issues like this that haven't gotten the focus they

          7  deserve.

          8

          9                 So, although in our field oftentimes

         10  people try to claim credit for something they didn't

         11  do, I want to purposely note that the credit for the

         12  fact that this issue is getting attention squarely

         13  falls on Council Member Stewart and his staff.  I

         14  want to also commend Desiree Venegas and Jennine

         15  Ventura for their excellent work in bringing this

         16  issue to light.  I do want to thank the staff of the

         17  General Welfare Committee, Molly Murphy and Freya

         18  Riel and everyone who was a part of putting together

         19  this hearing.

         20                 What we do, a lot of what the General

         21  Welfare Committee is trying (sic) monitor and

         22  understand the efforts ACS makes to protect children

         23  and help children to have better lives. A lot of

         24  times we look at issues that maybe are in the

         25  mainstream or in the front pages but sometimes it's
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          2  important to also stop and look at issues that may

          3  affect hundreds of children but don't get the

          4  attention they deserve.  This is certainly one of

          5  them so today we're very interested to know what ACS

          6  is doing to identify children with SIJS and to help

          7  them.

          8                 I think it's a complicated issue to

          9  say the least. But we do want to focus on the fact

         10  that this is a legal right for children who are

         11  long- term foster care and to help the world

         12  understand that these are kids who are dependent on

         13  the juvenile court system and will not be reunifying

         14  with a family member. That's crucial to understand

         15  at the outset.  We don't want any confusion about

         16  that fact.  These are children who, if we don't help

         17  them (sic) are not necessarily going to have a clear

         18  path and the kind of support they need as they go

         19  forward.

         20                 I also want to say at the outset that

         21  I appreciate, I think I've said this at many

         22  hearings, I appreciate what ACS does.  I appreciate

         23  the difficulty of its work.  I appreciate the fact

         24  that the folks who work there; the vast majority

         25  that I've met I think are tremendously devoted to
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          2  helping kids.  But I also believe fundamentally that

          3  we help ACS by doing strong oversight by asking

          4  these questions.  I think we have to hold ACS, of

          5  course, to a very high standard.

          6                 So just to make this vivid, kids in

          7  this status if they are not given support to go

          8  through this process properly their future, in many

          9  ways, is on hold.  We want a dynamic where, because

         10  of the SIJS status that a young person can obtain a

         11  green card; they can move as they become a young

         12  adult towards employment; they can get financial aid

         13  for college; receive federal housing assistance.

         14  All those positive opportunities.  Of course, what

         15  we don't want is any possibility that a child who

         16  has already suffered immensely in terms of their

         17  personal dynamics would be at risk of deportation.

         18  Deportation into a dynamic with very few supports

         19  and very few secure realities in terms of going to a

         20  country that they may not even be familiar with any

         21  longer and they may not have family members in it,

         22  etc.

         23                 So, if done right this is an

         24  opportunity to give these kids a path to self-

         25  sufficiency.  But time is a crucial factor and the
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          2  window to help these children is often a very short

          3  one and it's crucial that ACS improve it's ability

          4  to identify these young people and help them on

          5  their path.

          6                 So today we're very interested to

          7  follow-up on the good work that the Immigration

          8  Committee did back in June and understand what ACS

          9  has done since that hearing to create a real system

         10  to identify these kids and support them and to

         11  understand what more needs to be done going forward.

         12  With that I just want to say that I am, again, very

         13  appreciative to my Co-Chair for what he's done on

         14  behalf of these children.

         15                 I would also like to note we've just

         16  been joined by Council Member Melissa Mark-

         17  Viverito.  Welcome.

         18                 Mr. Chairman I return the gavel to

         19  you to introduce the witnesses.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  With that in

         21  mind we will call the first witness.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Mr. Chairman I

         23  should also note we've been joined by Council Member

         24  Annabel Palma.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.
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          2                 Ron Richter from ACS and also Mark

          3  Lewis from ACS.

          4                 If you can just identify yourself and

          5  then we may get right into it.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Good

          7  afternoon Chair Stewart and Chair DeBlasio and

          8  Members of the Immigration and General Welfare

          9  Committees.  My name is Ronald Richter and I am the

         10  Deputy Commissioner for Family Court Legal Services

         11  at the Administration for Children Services.

         12                 I appear before you today with Mark

         13  Lewis, our Director of Immigration Services.  We

         14  would like to take to take this opportunity to

         15  update you on Children Service's work with children

         16  in foster care who may be eligible for SIJS or SIJS.

         17                 Children's Services provides Child

         18  Welfare Services to all families and children

         19  residing in New York City regardless of their

         20  immigration status.  In the course of providing

         21  Child Welfare Services, some children placed into

         22  foster care by Children's Services are undocumented

         23  immigrants.  Some of these youths may be eligible

         24  for SIJS.  A statutory provision, as you described,

         25  included in the Federal Immigration Act of 1990
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          2  which enables undocumented young people in long-

          3  term foster care to become permanent residents and

          4  to obtain green cards.  Long- term foster care is

          5  the term used for youth who are in our care and for

          6  whom reunification with their parent is not a

          7  realistic plan within the foreseeable future.

          8                   In order for a child to eligible

          9  for SIJS, a young person must be unmarried and under

         10  21 years old; placed in foster care prior to his or

         11  her 18th birthday due to abuse, neglect or

         12  abandonment as determined by a Family Court judge;

         13  be in foster care at the time that the SIJS

         14  application is filed and remain in care throughout

         15  the process of obtaining SIJS.  Receive a

         16  declaration from the Family Court judge that it is

         17  not in the applicant's best interest to return to

         18  his or her country of origin.

         19                 Helping eligible foster children

         20  obtain SIJS is crucial to their ability to work,

         21  attend school and remain in the United States once

         22  they leave the foster care system.  As such

         23  Children's Services recognizes that we have a

         24  special responsibility to aid foster children in

         25  obtaining SIJS.  When Children Services confirms
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          2  that a young person in foster care is undocumented

          3  and may be SIJS eligible, our case managers work in

          4  conjunction with our foster care agencies and legal

          5  staff to insure the youth is properly referred to

          6  independent counsel to assess the child's

          7  eligibility for SIJS and, if appropriate, to begin

          8  their SIJS applications.

          9                 To do this we rely and work closely

         10  with a network of public service and pro- bono

         11  counsel dedicated to representing foster children

         12  and who have expertise in SIJS and can provide the

         13  legal representation needed to obtain SIJS status.

         14                 To support the SIJS application

         15  process, Children's Services reimburses foster care

         16  agencies for all fees associated with the SIJS

         17  application which may exceed $1,000 per child as

         18  well as for the cost of legal services provided by

         19  public service legal agencies.

         20                 In 2005, Children's Services

         21  increased the legal services reimbursement rate to

         22  advocates and lawyers who handle SIJS cases from

         23  $400 to $700, a 75% increase, to insure that legal

         24  services providers can afford to do this critical

         25  work.  We have also recently changed our policy to
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          2  allow foster care agencies to submit their requests

          3  for SIJS reimbursement directly to our financial

          4  services division.  Previously, foster care agencies

          5  needed to first secure the approval of their

          6  Children Services' care manager for the expense and

          7  before submitting the request for payment.

          8                 We are hopeful that this change in

          9  process will facilitate and expedite reimbursement

         10  for the foster care agencies and remove any

         11  unnecessary delays in processes under the control of

         12  Children's Services.  We communicated this change in

         13  a recent letter to all foster care agency executive

         14  directors from the Commissioner of Children's

         15  Services.  This letter also reinforce the importance

         16  of SIJS process for eligible youth and identifying

         17  these youths as soon as possible.

         18                 Children's Services also offers

         19  extensive training on SIJS.  We train all of our

         20  child protective staff on cultural competency

         21  including a component on the SIJS process.  This

         22  training is a part of the common core curriculum

         23  that all child protective staff receives.

         24  Children's Service also trains all new attorneys in

         25  our Family Court Legal Services division on the SIJS
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          2  process and requirements.  A special training

          3  focused solely on immigrant issues is available to

          4  all Children Services and foster care agency staff

          5  through the James Satterwhite Training Academy.

          6  Finally, SIJS training has also been provided at our

          7  quarterly meetings with all foster care directors.

          8  Ensuring that all our new child welfare staff is

          9  trained in SIJS is crucial to the identification of

         10  potential SIJS youth and ensuring their awareness of

         11  its importance.

         12                 Identifying youth who may be

         13  undocumented is a challenge for several reasons,

         14  most commonly because many undocumented immigrants

         15  believe that disclosing their status voluntarily can

         16  result in their deportation by the United States

         17  Immigration and Customs Enforcement Service and are,

         18  therefore, reluctant to step forward to apply for

         19  services that they may need. In addition,

         20  undocumented children in foster care may not know

         21  their immigration status as they may have been

         22  brought to the United States at an early age.

         23                 Due to confidentiality concerns and

         24  consistent with Executive Order 41, Children's

         25  Services does not maintain a database of
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          2  undocumented children in foster care.  However,

          3  Children's Services has conducted surveys of legal

          4  service providers and internal data systems to

          5  identify youth receiving legal services for SIJS and

          6  those who may be eligible.  Since 2005,

          7  approximately 143 children in foster care have been

          8  or are currently being assisted with SIJS.  We plan

          9  to do these surveys on an ongoing basis to ensure

         10  that we have a regular back- end mechanism for

         11  identifying youth who may be eligible.

         12                 In addition, Children's Services, as

         13  part of our Preparing Youth for Adulthood

         14  Initiative, will be requiring that all foster care

         15  agencies ensure that youth in foster care have the

         16  necessary records to transition to independence.

         17  These records will include birth certificate,

         18  immunization record, Social Security Card and State

         19  ID or driver's license.

         20                 Under Preparing Youth for Adulthood,

         21  when a child 12 or older is in foster care, the

         22  foster care agency should determine the immigration

         23  status for all youth who do not have the United

         24  States birth certificate, citizenship documentation

         25  or documentation that the youth has legal permanent
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          2  resident status or greencard.  For all youth for

          3  whom there is not documentation of citizenship or

          4  legal status, the agency will refer the youth to

          5  legal service providers who provide SIJS services.

          6  We believe that this will be an important mechanism

          7  for identifying any youth not captured through the

          8  case planning process and for ensuring their access

          9  to the SIJS process.

         10                 Finally, Children's Services

         11  regularly meets with immigrant advocacy

         12  organizations and legal service providers to ensure

         13  that we have a mechanism to share information,

         14  respond to concerns and identify issues to be

         15  addressed.  Children's Services also responds to any

         16  case specific concerns raised by advocates.

         17                 I  hope that it is clear from our

         18  testimony today that Children's Services is

         19  genuinely committed to working with our staff,

         20  provider agencies and immigration advocates to

         21  ensure that undocumented youth in our care receive

         22  all the services for which they are eligible.  Thank

         23  you for allowing us to discuss this topic with you

         24  this morning.  We welcome your questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Mr. Lewis.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  I'm sorry,

          3  sir. Did you have testimony that you wanted to give

          4  also?

          5                 MR. LEWIS:  No.  I'm ready to answer

          6  any question.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You're just

          8  there for moral support, you're saying.  All right

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Mr.

         10  Lewis is actually the individual Children's Services

         11  most responsible for our immigration work.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Alright.  Let me

         13  start questioning by reading a portion of your

         14  testimony.  It says "some children placed in foster

         15  care by Children's Services are undocumented

         16  immigrants.  Some of these may be eligible for

         17  special immigrant juvenile status."  How do you

         18  identify these- what specifically you use to

         19  identify these children that are placed? I think

         20  what you did her is generalize and I want to know

         21  what specifically that you use to identify these

         22  children that are placed?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Sir, we

         24  are working closely with the advocacy community and

         25  legal service providers to identify all children who
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          2  may be eligible for SIJS status.  As I explained in

          3  my testimony, we do not keep a database of

          4  children's eligibility for SIJS.  We have, with the

          5  initiation of our Preparing Youth for Adulthood

          6  Initiative required provider agencies to ascertain

          7  for all children, 12 and older, whether they would

          8  be eligible because we are seeking documentation for

          9  them to help them as they prepare for adulthood.

         10                 MR. LEWIS:  Let me add.  Also early

         11  in the process from the child abuse investigation

         12  when we're providing services to a family we will

         13  ask about immigration status so that we can make

         14  sure that we can appropriately refer clients to

         15  services.  It's also part of our system for

         16  determining whether a family is eligible for federal

         17  reimbursement.  So in the process there is an

         18  immigration indicator so when Mr. Richter was

         19  talking about doing some data matches that's the

         20  system that we're talking about.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I noticed you

         22  said that you don't keep records because of the fact

         23  that you want to be in line with Executive Order 41.

         24    But, isn't there another way we can get around

         25  this by just asking place of birth and whether they
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          2  have a social security number and if those

          3  information you can use that to, at least, ascertain

          4  whether the person is documented or not?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Sir, I

          6  want to in the first instance indicate that, when

          7  children are coming into foster care there are often

          8  immediate safety concerns that our agency is

          9  obviously focused on.  So that the time the children

         10  are coming in to foster care, when the children are

         11  old enough to speak and be interviewed we obviously

         12  are not focusing on their immigration status so much

         13  as we're focusing on their safety and perhaps

         14  resources in their community where they may reside

         15  in the event that they need to be removed from their

         16  parents.  So I think it's important to indicate that

         17  distinction because there are many other more

         18  imminent issues that our agency is trying to address

         19  at the time children come in to care.  Once they are

         20  in care and they are in foster care with a provider

         21  agency, we are requiring our provider agencies to

         22  ensure that they are, in terms of preparation for

         23  adulthood, that they have the documentation that

         24  would then give us the indication that they may

         25  benefit from SIJS status.
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          2                 I guess I also want to add here that

          3  it's important to acknowledge, to say, that only

          4  children who don't have a plan of reunification are

          5  eligible for SIJS status so that the majority of

          6  children in our care have a goal of reunification

          7  and would therefore not be eligible and we would not

          8  be in the first instance assessing them for this

          9  eligibility.  As you are well aware, Chair Stewart,

         10  our agency's goal for all children who come into

         11  foster care is reunification in the first instance

         12  and our efforts, in the first instance, are to

         13  provide services to help children be able to remain

         14  with their families.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  My problem

         16  basically is that at that early stage we may not

         17  know, it may not be determined that that child will

         18  be returning.  So, I'm just looking to see if the

         19  information that you can gather after the initial

         20  stage I want to know at what point would you say,

         21   "well listen, let's seek SIJS this youngster.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Okay.

         23  To be clear, our New York State Family Court Act and

         24  our Social Services Law require our agency to

         25  maintain a goal of reunification when children come
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          2  into care in the first instance unless there are

          3  extreme abuse circumstances confronting the family.

          4  So, in the first instance, almost all children who

          5  come into our care have a goal of reunification if

          6  we need to do a removal.  The law requires that to

          7  be our goal.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right, that

          9  might be your goal sir but the fact is at some point

         10  that child may not be going back to that home.  So,

         11  I want to know how do you determine that. I may want

         12  to seek that this child I go before the judge to get

         13  information to at least help this child.  I want to

         14  know if you have set things in motion already to get

         15  the information to know, basically, that this child

         16  is eligible for SIJS.

         17                 MR. LEWIS: For all children in foster

         18  care in their case records there is a requirement

         19  that they have a birth certificate as well as

         20  documentation of immigration status.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         22                 MR. LEWIS:  So that is information

         23  that will tell whether a person should be referred

         24  to legal services.  And as Mr. Richter said, the

         25  Preparing Youth for Adulthood we're saying at age 12
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          2  that foster care agencies should be triggered to

          3  make sure that every kid in their care has

          4  citizenship or if they don't that they're referred

          5  to legal services.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So at the age

          7   --

          8                 MR. LEWIS: -- At age 12 there's

          9  plenty of time in order for them to go through the

         10  SIJS process.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So you're

         12  saying by the age of 12 if you had a child before

         13  you want to get that information of --

         14                 MR. LEWIS: -- That's the latest.  We

         15   --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  That's the

         17  latest --

         18                 MR. LEWIS: -- Would like to start --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- Social

         20  Security number --

         21                 MR. LEWIS:  Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- Immigration

         23  status, all that information will be there so that

         24  you can know when they'll be eligible for SIJS.

         25                 MR. LEWIS:  Exactly.  And then the
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          2  other part of the system that I think is important

          3  to note is that every child in foster care has a law

          4  guardian who has been trained about SIJS who we

          5  believe if a youngster is reluctant to tell

          6  government about their immigration status they're

          7  much more likely to be telling their law guardian

          8  and the law guardian should also be triggering it.

          9  This is really both of our responsibilities to make

         10  sure that that happens.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Yeah,

         12  and I--

         13                 CHAIRMAN STEWART:  That is for

         14  children under the age of 12 you said?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So any

         16  child who is in foster care has, from zero right on

         17  through to 21, has an attorney responsible for their

         18  representation in foster care.  That person is

         19  called the law guardian and there are agencies in

         20  the city that represents these children in the

         21  Family Court.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah, I

         23  understand all of that but I'm just looking at the

         24  point whereby that law attorney may not be one who

         25  is dealing with that issue; might be quite aware
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          2  that listen this child needs this type of service

          3  and they might be looking at other interest of the

          4  child.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: --

          6  Absolutely.  Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So I want to

          8  see if ACS can or if the City could put something in

          9  place to make sure that we identify such children.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Right.

         11  So what we have put in place and we are prepared to

         12  provide you with the plan.  Our new initiative

         13  called Preparing Youth for Adulthood requires our

         14  provider agencies to look into the issues of the

         15  young person at the time they turn 12 in order to

         16  prepare them for adulthood.  One of the issues

         17  they'll be looking into is their immigration to the

         18  extent that we will ask them for a birth

         19  certificate.  If they don't have one we'll help them

         20  get one.  They don't have a social security card,

         21  we'll help them get one or expect that our provider

         22  agency do so.

         23                 So we are hopeful that this

         24  initiative will help address some of the concerns

         25  that you are raising.  There is a specific
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          2  requirement now that agencies who are caring for the

          3  young people must investigate this particular issue.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But, are these

          5  children under the age of 12 placed in long- term

          6  care?  Because you said that your goal is not to

          7  place them in long- term care.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But how many do

         10  we seek.  If they're not in long- term care it's

         11  going to be a problem.  You're not going to get

         12  SIJS.  All right.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  That's

         14  true.  You wouldn't be eligible for it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  But how

         16  many of these children that are under 12 that you

         17  assist in putting into long term care?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So, I'm

         19  just trying to understand the question.  Because our

         20  initiative focuses on children 12 and older, you're

         21  concerned that there may be some children under 12

         22  who would not be able to access this service.  Is

         23  that what --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes, that's

         25  part of it.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So, I

          3  will say that as Mr. Lewis described, in the process

          4  of young people coming into our system at whatever

          5  age, we are ascertaining whether they have a birth

          6  certificate; we are ascertaining that for a range of

          7  purposes.  So, there is an opportunity for us to

          8  learn for young people under 12 coming into the

          9  system whether they may be SIJS eligible.  However,

         10  we would not be pursuing that until the time came

         11  when we knew that their goal was not return to

         12  parent; that their goal was going to be long- term

         13  care.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, where do we

         15  keep that information?  If we have such children

         16  that might be eligible and we are not trying to

         17  place them into long- term care, where's that

         18  information?  How do we help those children?

         19  Because-

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Who's

         21  goal is not long- term care?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  You're

         23  goal is not to put them in long- term care.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:

         25  Absolutely not.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  But at

          3  the same time --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  But

          5  then they would not be eligible for SIJS, sir.  In

          6  other words, that--

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  But if

          8  your goal is not to place them in long-term care, it

          9  means that your goal is not to help them get access

         10  to SIJS.  That's what I'm asking.  The fact is you

         11  might try to reunify that child but there's a gray

         12  area whether that child would remain in that family

         13  for any length of time.  The mere fact that they

         14  went into ACS.  It can repeat that they leave that

         15  system; leave the parents again and whatever.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But the fact is

         18  until such time that you're saying that the courts

         19  make the decision to place them in long- term care

         20  or you assist them and then your goal is not that,

         21  to assist them to be in long- term care.  That child

         22  will not get that service.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Okay.

         24  So, I wouldn't want to say that the child would not

         25  get that service.  Although the Preparing Youth for
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          2  Adulthood Initiative focuses on children 12 and

          3  older, all of our provider agencies receive training

          4  on Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.

          5                 I want to reiterate a point that Mr.

          6  Lewis made because it's important.  He's not

          7  suggesting that we believe law guardians are fully

          8  responsible for this.  The point he's making is that

          9  it is often much more likely that a young person

         10  will share this information with their own lawyer

         11  than they will with an ACS case worker.  So, we are

         12  working in coordination with the law guardian

         13  programs because, very often in our experience, the

         14  young person will actually disclose to their law

         15  guardian information about their status that they

         16  wouldn't of provided to us or that they didn't

         17  provide to us when we made the effort.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to go

         19  into a question. You say "a special training focus

         20  solely on immigrant issues is available to all

         21  Children's Services and Foster Care agency staff."

         22  Shouldn't that be mandatory?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I'm

         24  sorry.  One more time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You say here "a
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          2  special training focus solely on immigrant issues-"

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: - "is available

          5  to all Children's Services and Foster Care agency

          6  staff."  I am asking shouldn't that be mandatory

          7  that the special training so that at least they are

          8  aware and they can pick up this problem that we

          9  have?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  We can

         11  certainly look into that, sir.

         12

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  See if we can

         14  make it mandatory.

         15                 You also spoke about a letter sent

         16  to, it says here. Let me see if I can get exactly

         17  what is- it said "we communicated this change in a

         18  recent letter to all foster care agency executive."

         19  Could we have a copy of that letter-

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I'm

         21  sure we-

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  To the

         23  Commissioners and Children's Services?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  That

         25  letter from the Commissioner to the agency executive
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          2  directors, I'm sure we can provide you with that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

          4                 When was it sent please?

          5                 MR. LEWIS:  It was sent last week.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Last week.  All

          7  right.

          8                 MR. LEWIS:  The other thing I would

          9  add- the only children under age 12 who need SIJS

         10  services are kids who are going to be adopted.

         11  Because we should help them go through the SIJS

         12  process before.  So, in that circumstance, in order

         13  to go through the adoption process you do need a

         14  birth certificate.  So we are confident that all

         15  kids who are going through the adoption process we

         16  can identify whether they are citizens or whether

         17  they may need SIJS services.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  My problem is

         19  basically is that you stated a while ago that your

         20  goal is to reunify children with their -- that's

         21  your main goal.  And you can take maybe a year, two

         22  years, three years whatever the time is you can take

         23  as long as you want that's because that's your goal.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Well,

         25  no sir, actually that is not correct.  We are not
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          2  permitted to take as much time as we want. The

          3  Adoption and Safe Families Act and New York's

          4  Permanency law require us to do planning at six

          5  month intervals that we need to present to the

          6  Family Court.  So by no means do we have a free

          7  reign with respect to achieving permanency for young

          8  people.  The law and the Family Court require us to

          9  do it much sooner and, obviously, as the Child

         10  Welfare Agency in New York City we are invested in

         11  moving children to permanency as quickly as

         12  possible. No one wants children to be in care

         13  indefinitely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         15  What is the status of ACS Immigration or Immigrants

         16  Committee?  What is the status of that?

         17                 MR. LEWIS:  Well, I chair the

         18  Committee with Zena Beyega (phonetic) from Center

         19  for African Women, and we meet on a bi -- every two

         20  months we meet. In fact, we have a meeting tomorrow.

         21  And there are members from the SIJS legal services

         22  community is part of that advisory committee and we

         23  invite them to add agenda items to these meetings.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Is it the

         25  advisory committee (sic) work with ACS to develop
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          2  the handbook and training guide which is called

          3  Immigrant and Language Guidelines for Children

          4  Welfare staff?

          5                 MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Which is

          7  supposed to be given out to all incoming case

          8  workers as part of their 10- week training. Are they

          9  given out to the contract agencies providing

         10  prevention and foster care services?

         11                 MR. LEWIS:  They have been shared

         12  with them, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You said they

         14  have been shared with them?

         15                 MR. LEWIS:  We have sent them at

         16  least one or two times.  There is turnover in foster

         17  care agencies so I can't tell you that every new

         18  foster care worker automatically gets that. It is on

         19  our website.  The other thing we are trying to

         20  develop a special immigration website where we'll

         21  have all the information on SIJS available.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  The

         23  reason why I ask is because it has been my

         24  impression that it is not given out to all these

         25  workers.
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          2                 MR. LEWIS:  No, I know we have sent

          3  it out.  You know, my experience has been both at

          4  ACS and with contract agencies that materials are

          5  often sent out and they're sitting someplace and

          6  people may not know about them.  So, we could

          7  probably do a better job making sure that there is

          8  more recognition and new workers get that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, I

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 Has ACS applied for any training

         12  grants or data collection and analysis grants?  Any

         13  of those grants?

         14                 MR. LEWIS:  I think that would be our

         15  office of research that would know that.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  We can

         17  provide you with that information.  I should say

         18  that with respect to information gathering,

         19  Children's Services in New York is required to

         20  comply with the State Connections System so that in

         21  order for there to be changes to what information is

         22  required, that is an issue that New York State

         23  Office of Children and Family Services would be able

         24  to address as we, like all other local social

         25  services districts in the state need to comply with
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          2  that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, until I

          4  collect myself again and get a couple more

          5  questions, I'll ask my CHAIRPERSON to at least get

          6  to you one of his questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Mr. Chairman,

          8  I think you're quite collected.

          9                 Let me first welcome additional

         10  colleagues who have joined us.  Council Member John

         11  Liu, Council Member Darlene Mealy, Council Member

         12  Charles Barron.

         13                 I want to just follow- up on the

         14  spirit of Chair Stewart's questions because I think

         15  there's a bit of a nagging feeling here that there

         16  is more kids to be served maybe than we're reaching

         17  or a tight time- line that we may not be entirely

         18  grappling with.  Again, I emphasize I think every

         19  one knows this agency is working in good faith but I

         20  think it's our job to productively hold your feet to

         21  the fire and ask if everything is moving the way it

         22  could.

         23                 First of all, I'm a little concerned

         24  just in terms of the magnitude of the problem.

         25  Thinking about a single child who could be deported
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          2  who shouldn't be.  I'm editorializing but a single

          3  child that could be deported back to a country they

          4  may not even know; a language they may not speak;

          5  certainly questionable whether they have any family

          6  there.  That alone could be a tragedy. We can only

          7  imagine what might happen to one child.

          8                 Now, you report in your testimony 143

          9  children that have been or are being assisted with

         10  SIJS since '05.  So that's just the last year or

         11  two.  But I think it's clear from the testimony and

         12  the answers to the questions that there very well

         13  could be many more out there.  So, I guess I'm

         14  trying to get a sense, I often ask this of agencies

         15  like what's the plan?  What's the projection you

         16  have?  Do you have any internal estimate in terms of

         17  the total number of potential kids that you might

         18  need to serve with this support who might be

         19  eligible so that we have an understanding of what

         20  you see as the magnitude of the problem.

         21                 MR. LEWIS:  I think that's a hard

         22  question to answer.  I don't know of any way of

         23  actually projecting the number of kids in foster

         24  care or maybe undocumented.  I do know that in terms

         25  of immigrant families and children, three quarters
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          2  of children in immigrant families are citizens

          3  because most immigrant children, you know, they're

          4  born here.  There are about 17,000 children in

          5  foster care.  My understanding is we process the 143

          6  kids who are receiving some sort of level of

          7  services and it may take a couple of years before

          8  they go through the process.  So our belief is about

          9  somewhere between 75 and 100 kids go through the

         10  SIJS process every year.  So, that's about somewhere

         11  between a half of and one percent of the kids in

         12  foster care may be SIJS eligible. I'm not sure.  I

         13  think that's as good an estimate we can have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Well, I

         15  appreciate your honesty and we'd much rather have an

         16  answer we don't know than a made- up answer or an

         17  answer to try and deflect attention.  But, here's

         18  where I'm troubled right away.  You say about 17,000

         19  in foster care and then you provide another fact

         20  which is an important one- three quarters of

         21  immigrant children are U.S. born and therefore a

         22  citizen but therefore one quarter not.

         23                 So, let's ask the next questions.  Of

         24  the kids in foster care, how many are of immigrant

         25  parents?  Do you have any sense of estimate of that
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          2  overall?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I mean,

          4  I think it's -- I don't mean to be disrespectful but

          5  we are very much committed to not focusing on

          6  immigration status as a city agency when providing

          7  the kinds of services that our families need and we

          8  are very focused on insuring that we serve whatever

          9  kid comes our way and their families.  So I feel

         10  like that's an important thing to say.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  So it is and

         12  you are preaching to the proverbial choir because

         13  I'm sure you know the history that the Mayor signed

         14  Executive Order which we all support but I would

         15  further editorialize if not for the efforts of some

         16  people in the room and some other Council Members,

         17  there may not have been an Executive Order.  In fact

         18  it would have been legislation so, I don't want to

         19  say it was signed under duress.  I would say it was

         20  signed because of appropriate public pressure that

         21  the Council largely created.

         22                 Therefore, we're sensitive to that

         23  fact.  But that is a different question then can you

         24  as experts on foster care and you as also an expert

         25  on immigration working with other experts in
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          2  immigration, can you generally extrapolate of kids

          3  in foster care how many would be of immigrant

          4  parents.  I'm not talking about serving the

          5  individual kids.  I'm saying do you have a general

          6  working model?

          7                 MR. LEWIS:  The answer is I don't

          8  have that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  All right.  So

         10  I'm just going to make an obvious point.  If 2,000

         11  kids in foster care were of immigrant parents and

         12  typically three- quarters of kids of immigrant

         13  parents were citizens and one- quarter weren't, that

         14  would say there's 500 kids on a track that this

         15  might make relevant and just hear me out- and

         16  obviously the younger ones have more time, the older

         17  ones don't.  The reason I'm asking it like this is

         18  I'm concerned about urgency and I'm concerned about

         19  coordination.  It feels like from what I'm hearing

         20  so far that you've got a lot on your plate, Mr.

         21  Lewis, and I don't necessarily hear a lot of staff

         22  and a lot of support to go with that and I'm

         23  concerned that, you know, how are and I think I'm

         24  following up in the spirit of the Chairman here, how

         25  are we making sure that kids aren't missing our view
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          2  before it's too late.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Okay.

          4  So very important to just add that of the children

          5  that you just described, the potentially eligible

          6  children, they also need to have a goal that is not

          7  reunification.  The great majority of children in

          8  our care have that goal.  So I think that's

          9  important to say.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Just say that

         11  statistic again.  General rule.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Right

         13  now, approximately a third of the 17,000 children in

         14  care do not have a goal of reunification. Okay, so

         15  it's a third of all of the children in our foster

         16  care.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Right.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So I

         19  just say that because it's out of that group that we

         20  would be talking about eligibility.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  But out of

         22  that 5 or 6 thousand kids I would say they're

         23  overwhelmingly children of color and I would say a

         24  very substantial number are probably children of

         25  immigrant parents.  So I'm not pretending to be an
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          2  expert.  I'm saying, respectfully, if you had come

          3  in and said even with the prohibition of the

          4  Executive Order in mind, if you had come in and said

          5  this is our clear sense of the magnitude of the

          6  problem and here are the specific resources we're

          7  bringing to bear to address it, it might be a little

          8  more comforting.  I don't think you're lying to us.

          9  I'm saying our job is to hold you to a higher

         10  standard to say how can you, even with those

         11  challenges in terms of information, how can you make

         12  sure you're serving enough and because this is not a

         13  snap your fingers kind of process.  This obviously

         14  takes a lot of players being coordinated.  Again,

         15  I'm concerned that you alone are not in a position

         16  to deal with something that might be hundreds and

         17  hundreds of kids.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So I do

         19  want to emphasize and restate that the only way that

         20  we can do this work and identify every child is by

         21  working very closely with the advocacy community.

         22  Specifically with the organizations that represent

         23  children.  The two largest of those organizations

         24  have significant social work staff that spend a good

         25  deal of time with the young people and have the
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          2  opportunity to develop a different relationship than

          3  we as the child protective agency often can

          4  establish.  So, I guess I want to say that Mr. Lewis

          5  does spend a good deal of time engaging with the

          6  individuals representing these very children and

          7  speaking to these very children regularly.  So, I

          8  only say that because it reflects that we have put

          9  this issue squarely on the radar screen and we are

         10  working with advocates who also have this issue on

         11  the radar screen and we are hopeful that that goes a

         12  ways in helping make sure that no child who is SIJS

         13  eligible doesn't receive the opportunity to get

         14  that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Right, and I

         16  appreciate your intent very clearly.  I'm just going

         17  to ask a couple of questions more and then pass it

         18  back to the Chairman.

         19                 I'm going to just guess for a moment

         20  that current number you have of 143 over the last

         21  couple of years is substantially higher.  This is

         22  just trying to look at how we often end up finding,

         23  when we look at situations where there's imperfect

         24  data, that magnitude to the problem is often

         25  greater.  So let's say for a second there is two-
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          2  three hundred kids right now in the system who will

          3  eventually need this assistance.

          4                 My concern then is it's specially

          5  because there are so many agencies involved and

          6  because it's such a complex and sensitive matter and

          7  because of the information prohibitions etcetera,

          8  that I could see you doing nothing all day but this.

          9    And it would be an incredible public service, by

         10  the way, if several hundred kids ended up getting an

         11  opportunity to have a good life here in this country

         12  as opposed to potentially deportation into a very

         13  difficult circumstance, that would be an incredible

         14  public service for someone's lifetime.  I wouldn't

         15  raise the deportation specter except since 911,

         16  everyone in this room knows, the finger on the

         17  trigger of deportation is a very itchy one in

         18  America today. We have to be mindful of that.

         19                 But, I guess I'm saying the actual

         20  work, the single person responsible to make sure

         21  each case is followed through on, if it's not you,

         22  who is it?  It can't be a diffused set of people.

         23  Who is the ultimate coordinator?  Who's ultimately

         24  responsible?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I just
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          2  want to say that no one individual can be

          3  responsible for issues like this in child welfare.

          4  No one individual is responsible for a child's

          5  safety. It is a constellation of individuals.

          6  Provider, agency, workers, ACS workers, ACS

          7  attorneys, law guardians.  It is a community of

          8  folks who are looking out for these children who

          9  have these extraordinary needs.

         10                 So, I don't think there can be one

         11  person in New York City responsible for identifying

         12  each child who is SIJS eligible.  We'll miss some.

         13  The idea here is to try to engage as many people as

         14  possible and, as we have said, require our provider

         15  agencies for all kids 12 and older to ensure that

         16  documentation is collected that will always reflect

         17  whether the young person has immigration status

         18  here.  So, that's I think a key to our efforts here.

         19    This new requirement that every provider agency is

         20  required to accumulate documentation for every child

         21  in care 12 and older will end up telling us and them

         22  which children may be eligible.

         23                 MR. LEWIS:  It's critically important

         24  that this program be integrated into programs like

         25  Preparing you for Adulthood.  If it's a stand- alone
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          2  program that's when it gets lost.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  That is very

          4  critical

          5                 MR. LEWIS:  The other think I do --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Go ahead

          7  please.

          8                 MR. LEWIS:  -- Want to share is that

          9  we are working closely with DYCD which does have a

         10  contract for legal services for SIJS and it also had

         11  a subcontract with Voices.  We use to do outreach to

         12  foster care youth.  So there's also some other parts

         13  of city government that are working on this issue.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  I don't think

         15  we're disagreeing.  You're absolutely right when you

         16  say it's a whole constellation of agencies and

         17  people.  That's true. You're right of many, many

         18  matters involving children.  I'm trying to say

         19  something that's not inconsistent with that in my

         20  opinion which is, and it's very much consistent with

         21  the concept of child stat on the child protective

         22  side.  Let's face facts.  We didn't address crime as

         23  well before crime stat we probably did not address

         24  child abuse as well before child stat and the jury's

         25  still out but I'm very hopeful about it.
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          2                 Whenever there is gray, especially

          3  with such challenging issues, it's easy for people

          4  to fall through the cracks.  So, what I'm saying is

          5  not is there one person tracking down all the

          6  paperwork?  I'm saying who is the ultimate

          7  responsible individual who is whipping the whole

          8  system reminding, cajoling and keeping the list and

          9  checking all the other potential lists or data that

         10  says, hey there might be some more people here to

         11  check into and talking all the -- who is ultimately

         12  minding the numerical challenge and is ultimately

         13  who has to be answered to once you know that a kid

         14  is potentially eligible for this?  Who is that

         15  person?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  At ACS,

         17  that's Mr. Lewis.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Okay.  And I

         19  guess just to finish, that's a lot and I beg you

         20  have other things to do and I'm trying to make sure

         21  that you believe you have the staff, the machinery,

         22  whatever it takes because I think -- Chair Stewart

         23  raised this issue a good eight months ago.  Our job

         24  is to come back eight months later and say what's

         25  happened since then so I'm asking the question.  Do
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          2  you have what you need at your disposal to actually

          3  track this complex group of people?

          4                 MR. LEWIS:  I think we're looking at

          5  how to best make sure that we are setting up a

          6  tracking system that will make sure that no one

          7  falls through the cracks.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Your honesty is

          9  telling sir.  So, that sounded like another way of

         10  saying no.

         11                 MR. LEWIS:  Well --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Yeah, how many

         13  staff, for example, are devoted to this?  How much

         14  money?  How much machine -- I mean, can you quantify

         15  what is being put in to this effort?

         16                 MR. LEWIS:  Well, but part of it is

         17  that, you know, the reason I am at ACS to really

         18  look at the whole agency and how we're providing

         19  immigrant services.  It wasn't set up so that I

         20  would have a staff of many people to do this.  The

         21  idea is to make sure that the agency is actually

         22  doing the job.  So, I'm not going to oversee

         23  Preparing Youth for Adulthood.  That's not my job.

         24  That's the people that are running that and their

         25  job is to make sure that every immigrant kid who's
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          2  in part Preparing Youth for Adulthood is identified.

          3                 So, whereas I'm having a little

          4  trouble answering questions, you know, it does seem

          5  reasonable to try to have a system that tracks the

          6  number of kids who are in the process and follow

          7  them through the system.  That's one of the things

          8  we want to work with DYCD when we do a new contract

          9  with the legal service providers because we really

         10  need to do that together.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I also

         12  want to add that Mr. Lewis and his herculean efforts

         13  are supplemented by an assistant supervising

         14  attorney whose name is Harry Gelb who has

         15  extraordinary expertise on the Family Court part of

         16  insuring SIJS status and obtaining the proper orders

         17  from the Family Court.  So, Mr. Gelb is also part of

         18  the agency's force, if you will, to help us ensure

         19  that we're securing the right information and

         20  obtaining the right orders to ensure the children

         21  receive this protection.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  I'm going to

         23  pass it back to the Chair but I would say,

         24  respectfully again, understanding you're doing very

         25  positive work but I think we need clearer answers
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          2  going forward and I think, you know look, we've

          3  spent a lot of time in this Council again on child

          4  protection, child welfare and we all understand what

          5  amazing work folks at ACS are being asked to do and

          6  what it difference it makes whether it's done in

          7  time or not and whether a family is tracked or not.

          8                 This prospect of deportation, you

          9  know, it's equally gripping and I think it is a very

         10  worthy investment cause it's another type of child

         11  protection and you're really talking about something

         12  that profoundly affects a young person's life.  It

         13  is worth us having a clearer devotion of resources

         14  to see these cases through.  Specially because we're

         15  not even sure how many there are. There may be more

         16  than we realize once we put some focused attention

         17  to it.

         18                 So I think, respecting your good

         19  efforts, Chair Stewart raised an alarm eight months

         20  ago.  I really think we don't have a lot of time to

         21  start grappling with issues like this and there's

         22  going to be budget hearings coming up next month or

         23  two months from now.  I can tell you from the ACS

         24  side of that equation, we're going to be asking this

         25  question again and I think if we don't have a clear
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          2  answer by then, there will be a real reason to raise

          3  a red flag.

          4                 I want to also note we have been

          5  joined by our colleagues Council Member Gail Brewer

          6  and Council Member and Council Member David Weprin.

          7  I now turn it back to Chair Stewart.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Before I call

          9  on  Council Member Nelson, I just want to follow- up

         10  on a couple of things that- do you know that

         11  California maintains data on such cases?  They have

         12  a special unit and all of that.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I am

         14  aware that they do have a special unit.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         16

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I am

         18  not aware whether they collect data on individual

         19  children.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, they do.

         21  Would you please -- I would like you to do some

         22  homework in checking what they do so that at least

         23  we can mirror their process.

         24                 MR. LEWIS:  One thing I do know that

         25  they do and I'm not sure if it's California as
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          2  opposed to the counties but they- and Illinois does

          3  also has a special SIJS unit- they also provide all

          4  the legal services directly.  So, that's something

          5  that we have worked with out legal service provider

          6  so it is a different system that we have in New York

          7  that they have in California and Illinois. That may

          8  be something to look at too whether we should be

          9  doing that in- house.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah because I

         11  would like s to have a special way of identifying

         12  such children and at least aggressively working on

         13  that.

         14                 The other thing I wanted to find out

         15  from you is we moved from what $400 and something

         16  dollars to $700 per case reimbursing the attorneys?

         17  That's what you said?

         18                 MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you know the

         20  average cost of handling such a case by an attorney?

         21    The legal costs?  I just want to make sure that

         22  you're not saying that it has to be increased by

         23  another $300 but it's still not adequate.  I just

         24  want to make sure that it's adequate that whatever

         25  we're reimbursing we are doing the right thing.
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          2                 MR. LEWIS:  I do know that DYCD in

          3  their new RFP is increasing reimbursement from $1200

          4  to $1500 and that's part of it. Almost all our cases

          5  may end up being served through the DYCD contract

          6  but we do need to look at -- the legal service

          7  providers haven't come to us and said we can't

          8  provide the services that you're asking us to do

          9  with the reimbursement we're providing. That doesn't

         10  mean that they wouldn't like more reimbursement but

         11  they --

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  We will

         13  certainly look at the cost per case.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

         15  hope someone from the legal services are here to at

         16  least follow- up on that.

         17                 Let me call on Council Member Nelson.

         18    He may have a couple of questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you Mr.

         20  Chair.  You just actually jumped into one of the

         21  questions I was going to ask as a matter of fact.

         22  From actually beginning to end it went up from $400

         23  only to $700 and that's all it actually winds up

         24  costing? Tat's all that's allowable to pay for an

         25  entire case?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  That's

          3  what we pay.  It's been a while since I've actually

          4  worked with individuals doing SIJS cases although I

          5  have in the past.  The way the work works is that

          6  you end up being involved in the application process

          7  and then there ends up being a lot of,

          8  unfortunately, waiting because INS takes time to

          9  process applications.  So, it's over the course of

         10  many months or even over a year that the process

         11  takes.  But in terms of breaking down hourly costs

         12  I'm not aware.  I do know that ACS also pays for any

         13  of the fees attendant to obtaining SIJS status.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Those are

         15  your attorneys on staff or you contract out, right?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  They're

         17  not attorneys who work for Children's Services,

         18  they're attorneys who work at many different legal

         19  service providers.  Some that are focused almost

         20  exclusively on this kind of work.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Do some of

         22  them change their telephone numbers when you try to

         23  call them to come back for a second case?  It's a

         24  cute way of saying does everybody really just

         25  continue to do it --
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Yeah

          3  and I think there also happens to be a network of

          4  providers that communicate frequently with one

          5  another so that if, as you are suggesting, there's a

          6  time when intake is full at one particular agency

          7  they do refer them to other agencies where there is

          8  availability of attorneys.  So-

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So you --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: --

         11  That's actually been considered I know in my own

         12  experience in the past that, having worked for legal

         13  services organization, we were part of a group that

         14  still exists and so we would call other legal

         15  services agencies and say do you guys have any time

         16  to do a SIJS case and we would usually find one

         17  after, you know, a call or two.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So there's

         19  enough wells or one runs dry there's another one to

         20  go to.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I mean,

         22  I can't say --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: -- I applaud

         24  you for your --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: --
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          2  sitting here that there are enough wells but I think

          3  that there are lawyers in the City who are able to

          4  do this work and some through DYCD and some through

          5  our reimbursement process.

          6                 MR. LEWIS:  And there are also a

          7  couple-

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Pro

          9  bono.

         10                 MR. LEWIS: - couple of- a lot of them

         11  have relationships pro bono providers and some

         12  foundations have supported some groups to provide

         13  such services.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So there are

         15  individuals who do a pro bono and or organizations.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So, I

         17  think that some of the legal services organizations

         18  train law firms that are interested in this kind of

         19  work.  They actually go and train associates and

         20  then the associates will take on a case each, for

         21  example.  I know that there was a time when the

         22  Legal Aid Society did that and so there would be a

         23  training and associates at various big firms would

         24  go to the training and then they'd be referred a

         25  case.  They would work with usually, at the time it
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          2  was a legal aid supervisor who would work with them

          3  and the law firm attorney would do the matter pro

          4  bono.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Well, it

          6  seems you're putting this together as well as

          7  possible with the limited funds but there's about

          8  300 cases did you say?  SIJS cases that are open now

          9  or?

         10                 MR. LEWIS:  I think our latest was

         11  that there are about 140- 150 cases.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  That is started

         13  cases and not potentially what is children who may

         14  need this.

         15                 MR. LEWIS:  Yes I-

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You saying 100-

         17                 MR. LEWIS:  No, the reason-

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: - and something

         19  cases that have started right?

         20                 MR. LEWIS:  Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And not

         22  necessarily the children who are eligible for this

         23  service.

         24                 MR. LEWIS:  Right but I really don't

         25  want to leave the impression with the City Council
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          2  that there are hundreds of kids who are falling

          3  through the cracks.  We have no information that

          4  that is in fact a --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But sir what

          6  I'm trying to get at it's our duty to find out which

          7  of these children are in need of it because if we

          8  let just one kid falls through the cracks, it's too

          9  many.  So that's the reason why I'm asking this

         10  question.  You can say, well, we're doing 170, but

         11  if there's another 170 that is not getting this

         12  service, that means we missed the boat.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: But you have

         14  ways to go into the field to try to find some of

         15  these children or young adults?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Well,

         17  our provider agencies are required to see the

         18  children at least monthly and so we are hopeful

         19  that, as we've described, making this a requirement

         20  with the Preparing Youth for Adulthood initiative

         21  that we will be having youngsters asked about this

         22  frequently as is a requirement for the agencies

         23  they'll need to accumulate documentation for each

         24  child 12 and older and that will certainly give us

         25  clear information about a youngster's immigration
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          2  status.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So it's not

          4  for want of you trying.  Those pro bono attorney

          5  organizations perhaps we should be honoring at a

          6  ceremonial at City Hall, by the way, just as an a

          7  side bar.  Thank you Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to go

          9  back to something.  On June 15th you stated that ACS

         10  will be addressing the backlog of SIJS applicants

         11  and set up a mechanism to fast- track cases for old

         12  youths who are at risk of aging- out of the foster

         13  care before the SIJS proposal is completed.  What I

         14  would like to is if you could describe the process

         15  and where your efforts to work with the federal

         16  government on this successful.  What have you done

         17  so far?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Sir, we

         19  did meet with the INS with the goal to encourage

         20  them to prioritize ACS cases of SIJS and we believe

         21  that we have seen improvement with respect to the

         22  amount of time it takes to get the needed attention

         23  for each case.  We have not experienced, according

         24  to the advocates who are actually doing these cases

         25  at the INS, we have not had the same reported delays
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          2  that we were having and they were considerable.  As

          3  you are aware, we don't track SIJS applications

          4  centrally.  We are always encouraging legal service

          5  providers to be in touch with Mr. Lewis and really

          6  trying to make sure that there aren't any young

          7  people who loose this opportunity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Mr. Lewis,

          9  could you tell me how many youths age- out of this

         10  foster care where SIJS applicants were not

         11  completed.  You have any idea?

         12                 MR. LEWIS:  No I don't have that

         13  information.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  That's another

         15  problem.  If we don't have records to know- how's

         16  that?

         17                 MR. LEWIS:  It may also mean that

         18  very few are not aged- out without it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, we only

         20  speculating that it's very few but I don't known.

         21  We don't know how many of these kids might be out on

         22  the streets now that age- out of the system. As a

         23  matter of fact, you should know basically if you

         24  file an application and the kids are aged- out, it

         25  was not completed.  You should know that stat for
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          2  that portion.  I'm not talking about the ones that

          3  did not apply, I'm talking about the ones that

          4  apply.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So, we

          6  may be able to find that information out but, Chair

          7  Stewart, I want to emphasize that it's just those

          8  concerns that you are raising that led the agency to

          9  make a decision to require our agencies for all

         10  youngsters 12 and older to obtain the information

         11  that will tell us exactly what it is that you're

         12  wanting us to know and that we agree is very

         13  important for us to know.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So you're going

         15  to be doing that now.

         16

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Our

         18  provider agencies, under the Preparing Youth for

         19  Adulthood initiative will be required to obtain the

         20  documentation that will tell us whether the

         21  youngster may be SIJS eligible which is obviously a

         22  considerable change since we were here on June 15th.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  In

         24  June you also stated that ACS was considering

         25  requiring foster care agencies to obtain social
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          2  security cards for all youths in their care.  This

          3  would be a helpful step in identifying which

          4  children might eligible for the SIJS process.  Has

          5  ACS made a decision on the social security cards?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Yes, so

          7  we have made a decision and what I've been

          8  describing as a requirement under the Preparing

          9  Youth for Adulthood initiative, we are requiring our

         10  provider agencies to obtain, among other

         11  documentation, a social security card for young

         12  people in care.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And that means

         14  you plan to ask foster care agencies to start

         15  requiring social security cards as one of the-

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  One

         17  from youngsters 12 and older, that's accurate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We understand

         19  that the goal for most children in the foster care

         20  is reunification and that the transition into long-

         21  term foster care is different for every child. That

         22  said, it is important to begin the SIJS application

         23  for undocumented children as soon as possible once

         24  reunification isn't an option.  What type of

         25  automatic trigger does exist or could exist that
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          2  would help ACS begin the SIJS process as soon as

          3  possible.

          4                 MR. LEWIS:  Well, I'm not sure it

          5  would be an automatic trigger but what Mr. Richter

          6  was talking about was the Preparing Youth for

          7  Adulthood and also the communication from the

          8  Commissioner to the agencies was asking the foster

          9  care agencies to, as soon as they identify these

         10  kids, to refer them to legal services.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I know you, Mr.

         12  Lewis, I know you said that you're Director of

         13  Immigration Services at ACS and you were alluding to

         14  the fact that you had someone who is helping as an

         15  attorney.  Do you have a full staff?

         16                 MR. LEWIS:  I work with people

         17  throughout the agency basically.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So they're not

         19  dedicated to this process.  Only you, you're saying.

         20  You try to get help from --

         21                 MR. LEWIS:  They do not report

         22  directly to me, right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  They do not

         24  report directly to you.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  My
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          2  understanding is the purpose of having Mr. Lewis

          3  join Children's Services was so that we would be

          4  identifying throughout Children's Services ways in

          5  which we can address immigration issues obviously

          6  including SIJS.  So one of the things that has

          7  happened since he's been there is that we have had

          8  these regular meetings with immigration advocates in

          9  order to keep us apprised of issues.  We've also

         10  incorporated SIJS into our training of both CPS

         11  staff and ACS attorneys so that it's an issue that's

         12  very much on their minds and that they are attending

         13  to.

         14                 Mr. Lewis has also brought to our

         15  attention and we have now made this requirement part

         16  of the Preparing Youth for Adulthood initiative and

         17  sent out a letter to the Executive Directors and

         18  gone to foster care director meetings sporadically

         19  over the course of the last couple of years to make

         20  sure that our foster care directors are aware of

         21  this issue and realize how critical it is to young

         22  people who are eligible.  So, I want to say that Mr.

         23  Lewis has been instrumental in insuring that this

         24  issue remains a priority for children services and

         25  its provider agencies.

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEES ON GENERAL WELFARE AND IMMIGRATION

          2                 We've also been involved in trainings

          3  with advocacy organizations and continue to believe

          4  this is a very important matter that we don't want

          5  any child to loose this opportunity.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Likewise, we

          7  don't want any of the children to loose the benefit.

          8    The fact is that's the reason why I'm asking

          9  whether he has adequate staff so as to police this

         10  program or whatever we try to do.  So, I feel that

         11  there could be some sort of department within ACS

         12  that deals with this directly and all of the SIJS

         13  information and documentation could be done then

         14  instead of just having people from different units

         15  working that is not reporting to him.  If we can put

         16  something together, maybe a staff of three or four

         17  that deals directly with any issues to do with SIJS.

         18    If we could do that, that would be what I'll be

         19  looking at.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  We will

         21  certainly look at the jurisdictions that you have

         22  suggested to see how they've set up their SIJS

         23  process.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  In

         25  the last year, could you tell me how many

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEES ON GENERAL WELFARE AND IMMIGRATION

          2  applications were submitted to the Homeland Security

          3  on this?

          4                 MR. LEWIS:  I don't have that data.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  See, that's

          6  what we would like to know.  That's what I feel that

          7  if we have a unit under your leadership should be

          8  able to tell us that and to tell us what's happening

          9  so that we know how many applications were sent in?

         10  How many have been adjudicated?  Where the status of

         11  those applications?  I'm not getting that answer and

         12  I feel that-

         13                 MR. LEWIS:  We have --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- some time ago

         15  you said that we're going to set up an agency or

         16  whatever to deal with this issue and we still not

         17  there yet.

         18                 MR. LEWIS:  No, I was going to say

         19  that we had requested foster care agencies to send

         20  us a referral form for every time they identify a

         21  child who is SIJS eligible and was referring them to

         22  legal services.  We found that that process didn't

         23  really work that well.  The agencies some did, some

         24  didn't so it wasn't a really accurate way of

         25  collecting that information.  We need to look at
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          2  other ways of collecting that information.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  We

          4  will have to work on that some more.

          5                 One of my concerns right now is that

          6  children over the age of, let's say, 15- 16 we may

          7  not be able to determine whether they're going to be

          8  on long- term care or not for the simple reason that

          9  at that age where we might be striving to reunify

         10  them with their family but, at that age, once

         11  they're in foster care or some sort of a

         12  guardianship, whatever, you know definitely a high

         13  percentage of them will not be reunifying with their

         14  family.  We want to know how we can get around

         15  seeking the courts to grant them long- term care in

         16  a short space of time because of the fact that

         17  within a couple of years they would be aged- out.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I can

         19  say that I don't think that the Family Court is

         20  endorsing plans nor are we proposing plans that I

         21  think are unrealistic.  As you know, there is a new

         22  law in New York that nor requires the Family Court

         23  to review each child's permanency plan every six

         24  months.  That includes all children through 21 and

         25  so the Family Court, in addition to the child's law
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          2  guardian and, when appropriate, the child's parents

          3  and foster parents are involved.  It's not just

          4  Children's Services setting the goal.  Those goals

          5  are being challenged and litigated every six months.

          6    So, it's not my experience that Family Court

          7  judges are maintaining an unrealistic goal for young

          8  people to return to parent.  Sometimes they'll give

          9  it another six months but the case will then be

         10  before the judge six months later and if as you're

         11  suggesting it doesn't look like it's realistic,

         12  they're not going to keep that goal.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah, I

         14  understand that but what I'm looking at is the fact

         15  that maybe it's being reviewed every six months,

         16  yes.  But at what point will yo determine, if you

         17  review the six months and then another six months

         18  and then another six months, at what point do we

         19  determine that this (sic) not going to work out.

         20  That we can help this -- we can get a determination

         21  by the judge that this is long-term -- we can't

         22  reunify these folks.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Well

         24  the law requires that the parent with whom the child

         25  would be reunified only gets a limited amount of
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          2  time to be able to get their child back.  So, we are

          3  required under the law, for example, for any young

          4  person who's been in foster care for 15 out of the

          5  past 22 months, we're required to file a petition to

          6  terminate that parent's right.  Then it may very

          7  well be that long- term foster care may appear to be

          8  what will happen but we don't keep children in

          9  foster care.  We're not legally permitted to keep

         10  children in foster care indefinitely without a plan.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But what about

         12  guardianship?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  I'm

         14  sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Guardianship.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:

         17  Guardianship is a permanency plan for children.

         18  That is a legally acceptable plan and young people

         19  in guardianship proceedings may be eligible for SIJS

         20  as well.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  Who

         22  is eligible to be a guardian?  Is any relative term

         23  or just- because sometimes you may have relatives

         24  who may be qualified to be guardian.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And it may not

          3  work and that child may not get that SIJS.  You may

          4  just reunify that person without having legal

          5  guardianship with someone that is a relative. I just

          6  want to know if there's efforts being made to really

          7  take care of those children who might be sent to a

          8  grandparent or an uncle or somebody.  And then

          9  that's in a form reunification but the fact is it

         10  may not be good for that child to become a permanent

         11  resident.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So if a

         13  Family Court judge determines that the young person

         14  needs to be placed in the guardianship of a relative

         15  or other person because they require protection,

         16  then that young person who would be in the

         17  guardianship of a family member or other person

         18  would be SIJS eligible.  You are SIJS eligible under

         19  a guardianship scenario.  That's my understanding.

         20  So you wouldn't loose the opportunity to get SIJS

         21  status if a relative came forward and sought

         22  guardianship for you.  My understanding is the law

         23  recognizes that as the reason- it's like long- term

         24  foster care. In other words, you're not returning

         25  home, you're in guardianship because you require the
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          2  protection of the court which is the requirement.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Is there any

          4  procedure set aside to determine, make sure that

          5  that child, who is being placed in that guardianship

          6  with the relative or whatever, that we determine

          7  that that child will get that benefit.  We know that

          8  we can ask some kind of a question or to determine

          9  whether a child has- or you have to provide them or

         10  find out if they have a social security number which

         11  would then tell you that they are documented or not?

         12    Is there any process?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  So

         14  young people who are the subject of guardianship

         15  proceedings are not always children in our system.

         16  There are many that we don't know and we don't have

         17  any contact with.  For those young people for whom

         18  guardianship is a permanency planning goal because

         19  they are in foster care, we would know those young

         20  people.  Our requirement that I've described where

         21  they would be, if they're in care and they're 12 or

         22  older, the requirement that we're making of the

         23  provider agencies that they obtain documentation for

         24  those young people will reflect that they may be

         25  eligible for SIJS even if their goal is
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          2  guardianship.  So, it's my understanding they would

          3  still have the opportunity to gain SIJS protection

          4  even if their goal is guardianship.  We, just like

          5  with other kids 12 and older, would know about them

          6  because we're requiring agencies to obtain this

          7  documentation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Mr. Lewis --

          9                 MR. LEWIS:  You've raised a very

         10  important point, though.  It's the kids who are in

         11  guardianship who are not involved in the foster care

         12  system that I'm afraid that are falling through the

         13  cracks.  We need to figure out a better way of

         14  educating immigrant communities about that so that

         15  they can avail themselves of those services.  DYC's

         16  contract, I think, will cover legal service

         17  providers but we need to get the word out better on

         18  that.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  And

         20  those would be children who aren't in our care but

         21  who cannot return to their country of origin because

         22  it's not safe there for them and so they require, in

         23  the context of a guardianship, the protection of the

         24  Family Court.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Mr. Lewis, as
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          2  an attorney you tell us what is the criteria to

          3  determine guardianship.

          4                 MR. LEWIS:  I'm not an attorney.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Oh, I thought

          6  you were an attorney.  All right.  Any one of you

          7  could explain what determines guardianship?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  The

          9  relative-

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Should you read

         11  maybe the criteria for SIJS.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  The

         13  relative or the other person in the young person's

         14  life can make an application to the Family Court for

         15  guardianship of the person and the court would then

         16  first establish whether this person actually is in a

         17  position to come before the court; to have standing

         18  to request guardianship and if they do then the

         19  court conducts the hearing and makes the best

         20  interest determination with respect to that young

         21  person.  Not unlike a custody proceeding.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So it's

         23  different from custody.  All right.

         24                 MR. LEWIS:  But it's an important

         25  issue.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah.

          3                 MR. LEWIS:  I'll give you an example.

          4    We helped a family where these two children were

          5  living with, I think, it was a Pakistani family for

          6  six or seven years and they never had guardianship

          7  during that whole period of time because the family

          8  didn't know it was required.  So the children almost

          9  fell through the cracks and were almost not able to

         10  avail themselves of SIJS. So, we need to do a little

         11  better job in terms of immigrant community education

         12  on some of those issues.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 I want to thank you for your

         16  testimony.  We got a number of things cleared up but

         17  I would caution you that we have to be a little more

         18  diligent to make sure that we are on top of this

         19  issue.  We're going to send you some more questions

         20  that we ask because we want to know that you are

         21  doing the right thing to help youngsters who might

         22  be eligible for this program.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:  Thank

         24  you for the opportunity to speak about this issue.

         25  We believe at Children's Services this is an
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          2  important issue and provides a critical opportunity

          3  for young people.  We are happy to work with you to

          4  try to figure out how to do that as best as

          5  possible.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

          7                 MR. LEWIS:  Thank you.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good morning.

          9  I'd like to call up a panel.  Dr. Ilze Earner from

         10  the Immigrants and Child Welfare Project.  Mari

         11  Hinojosa from Lawyers for Children and Myra Elgabry,

         12  also from Lawyers for Children.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  If you can

         14  please identify yourself and will you get right into

         15  it.  Starting from my right.

         16                 DR. EARNER:  All right.  Thank you.

         17  I am Dr. Ilze Earner with the Immigrants and Child

         18  Welfare Project at the Hunter College School of

         19  Social Work.

         20                 MS. ELGABRY:  Good morning.  My name

         21  is Myra Elgabry.  I'm an Equal Justice Work Scholar

         22  and attorney at Lawyers for Children in our

         23  Immigration Rights Project for children in foster

         24  care.  I'm here with my colleague, Mari Hinojosa who

         25  is a staff attorney and the founder of our
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          2  Immigration Project.

          3                 Thank you Chairperson Stewart,

          4  Chairperson DeBlasio and esteemed Members of the

          5  Immigration Committee and General Welfare Committee

          6  for the opportunity to testify and for your

          7  continued interest in the welfare of our City's most

          8  vulnerable children.

          9                 As you may know, Lawyer's for

         10  Children is a not for profit organization dedicated

         11  to protecting the rights of individual children in

         12  foster care and to compel in foster care system wide

         13  reform in the City of New York.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Could you pull

         15  the mike a little closer please?

         16                 MS. ELGABRY:  Every child we

         17  represent receives free legal and social work

         18  services in cases involving foster care, abuse,

         19  neglect, termination of parental rights, adoption,

         20  guardianship, custody and visitation.  Our case load

         21  exceeds 4,000 such cases a year.

         22                 Today I want to update the Council on

         23  the continued need for ACS to improve services for

         24  children eligible for Special Immigrant Juvenile

         25  Status.  We support the testimony that will be
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          2  submitted later by The Door Legal Services regarding

          3  children outside of the foster care system.  We will

          4  limit our testimony to children in foster care.

          5                 As you know, the SIJS process must be

          6  started as early as possible because a young person

          7  will automatically age- out of eligibility on his or

          8  her 21st birthday even if the application has

          9  already been filed.

         10                 In addition, the earlier a SIJS case

         11  is filed and processed, the earlier a young person

         12  would be able to obtain work authorization; obtain a

         13  social security card and apply for financial aid for

         14  college.

         15                 Achieving these goals acquires

         16  coordinated efforts by ACS, law guardians and

         17  immigration attorneys to identify SIJS eligible

         18  children early and efficiently process SIJS cases.

         19                 Since the City Council hearing on

         20  June 15, 2006, ACS has been in the process of

         21  developing a memo on SIJS policy and procedures to

         22  distribute to foster care agencies.  We understand

         23  from the testimony today that it was distributed to

         24  directors of agencies.  In addition, ACS Director of

         25  Immigrant Services, Mark Lewis, and ACS Assistant
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          2  Supervising Attorney, Harry Gelb has provided

          3  ongoing assistance with individual SIJS cases.

          4                 However, significant changes must

          5  still be made in order for ACS to meet its

          6  obligation to protect the rights of immigrant

          7  children and prevent unnecessary delays in the SIJS

          8  process.  As of yet, there is still no systematic

          9  method in place for ACS to identify and record

         10  whether a child is foreign-born.  We urge that

         11  country of birth be a required field in every child

         12  case file.  This field could be added to court

         13  petitions or permanency hearing reports which are

         14  provided to the Family Court every six months.

         15                 A country of birth field in the case

         16  file will lead to an early assessment of SIJS

         17  eligibility which should then speed the appropriate

         18  referral to immigration services.  Despite our

         19  repetition of these suggestions over the past two

         20  years, no progress has been made in capturing the

         21  number and identity of the children in care who are

         22  SIJS eligible.

         23                 It is very important for the

         24  identification system to include a method for

         25  communicating country of birth to the child's law
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          2  guardian.  Our interview screening process cannot

          3  always capture country of birth because some

          4  undocumented children were brought to this country

          5  at a very young age and are not able to self-

          6  identify.  ACS does not regularly provide this

          7  information to us nor is it in the court file.

          8                 As you may know, law guardians

          9  fulfill a crucial role by evaluating clients for

         10  SIJS eligibility and filing the motions for the

         11  requisite SIJS court orders in  Family Court.  Law

         12  guardians also play a critical role in obtaining

         13  legal representation for our clients in the Federal

         14  immigration process. A reliable system of

         15  communication from ACS to law guardians is crucial

         16  to expediting SIJS cases.

         17                 We continue to regularly encounter

         18  foster care agency caseworkers that have no

         19  knowledge of SIJS or immigration services for

         20  children in foster care.  Immigration attorneys

         21  consistently face delays of several months because

         22  agency caseworkers do not respond to request for

         23  application fees or obtain the required documents in

         24  a timely manner.  These unnecessary delays can risk

         25  the child aging- out of SIJS eligibility.
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          2                 For these reasons, we urge that ACS

          3  create a SIJS Unit with at least two staff members

          4  solely devoted to SIJS services.  The SIJS unit's

          5  responsibilities would be to: 1) ensure

          6  identification of foreign- born youth and

          7  communicate that information to the child's law

          8  guardian; 2) ensure foreign- born youth are screened

          9  for SIJS eligibility and that appropriate legal

         10  referrals are made; 3) ensure a timely collection of

         11  documents and fees for SIJS cases 4) provide

         12  mandatory training to ACS caseworkers, ACS

         13  attorneys, and all contract agency caseworkers. In

         14  addition to that, the SIJS unit could increase

         15  collaboration with the United States Citizenship

         16  Immigration Services to try to speed the backlog of

         17  SIJS cases.

         18                 We also encourage every contract

         19  agency to assign one staff member as a SIJS liaison

         20  who will assist with facilitating the SIJS process.

         21  The SIJS unit and SIJS liaisons will serve as

         22  important resources to coordinate ACS staff, agency

         23  staff, law guardians and immigration attorneys and

         24  insure that SIJS services are efficiently provided.

         25                 We ask that these proposed changes at
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          2  ACS occur as soon as possible because the stakes for

          3  any child who is SIJS eligible are enormous.  Losing

          4  SIJS eligibility means a child will not qualify for

          5  financial aid for college, will not be able to apply

          6  for jobs, will not receive federal housing

          7  assistance and will be at risk for deportation back

          8  to a country where he or she likely have no

          9  meaningful resources.  We all share an obligation to

         10  make sure that no child in our City's care is

         11  overlooked or ages out of these crucial benefits.

         12                 Finally, we wish to recognize the

         13  important services that non- profit legal

         14  organizations are providing in the SIJS process.

         15  SIJS cases require significant preparation and

         16  zealous advocacy, especially when a child is close

         17  to aging- out.  We strongly support the continued

         18  role of these experienced immigration attorneys in

         19  providing excellent representation for children in

         20  foster care.  We would also support plans for re

         21  evaluating the funding for these services if plans

         22  are made to do so.

         23                 The City Council has provided

         24  important leadership on issues for children in

         25  foster care and immigrant services and we applaud
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          2  you for continuing to do so.  We believe that the

          3  collaborative efforts of SIJS advocates and ACS to

          4  create an identification system and a SIJS unit will

          5  help ensure that all SIJS eligible children in

          6  foster care have the opportunities that they

          7  deserve.

          8                 We're available to assist in any way

          9  possible to improve the services and quality of care

         10  for children who are in need.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Thank you, Ms.

         12  Elgabry.  I just want to cut in for a moment before

         13  our next witness and just say I appreciate very much

         14  in your testimony, first of all I think you said

         15  even more plainly than we did that the stakes for

         16  these children are enormous and we need to

         17  understand qualitatively the huge impact that this

         18  has on kids if we do things right or, sadly, if we

         19  do things wrong.

         20                 But I also want to take the occasion,

         21  I appreciate that Mr. Lewis has remained to hear the

         22  testimony of advocates which is something I often

         23  wish folks from the Administration would do more so

         24  I want to give him extra credit for having done

         25  that. But I just want to make a statement that's
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          2  related to your testimony.  First of all, you've

          3  answered a crucial questions there.  We've suspected

          4  that many people out in the front line don't

          5  understand the status and how to act on it and I

          6  think it's a cautionary point to ACS about educating

          7  foster care agency caseworkers and others very

          8  quickly.

          9                 But, we didn't ask it point blank

         10  with the previous panel and I'm not going to ask Mr.

         11  Lewis from afar here but I'll just make an

         12  affirmative statement that I think, even in light of

         13  the Mayor's Executive Order which we all fully

         14  support, that moving towards asking country of

         15  origin at the very beginning of a child's

         16  involvement with foster care is a really smart

         17  policy in light of the fact that we clearly have a

         18  lot of unanswered questions here. We clearly do not

         19  have the kind of process in place or the kind of

         20  staffing in place to track these kids ideally.

         21  Anything that might improve that situation or

         22  speeded up would be worthwhile.  So, I just want to

         23  recommend to Mr. Lewis, and I think the Chair would

         24  agree on this, just affirmatively recommend and

         25  again looking forward to the budget hearing a couple
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          2  of weeks where we'll be asking these questions again

          3  that a policy of simply asking country of origin at

          4  the very beginning of a child's experience with

          5  foster care I think stays within the spirit of the

          6  Executive Order but also opens up the door to more

          7  effective service on this front.  I just want to

          8  mention that.

          9                 Thank you again for your testimony.

         10                 MS. HINOJOSA:  I might just add to

         11  that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  You'll have to

         13  introduce yourself.

         14

         15                 MS. HINOJOSA:  My name is Mari

         16  Hinojosa.  I'm a staff attorney at Lawyers for

         17  Children the founder of the Immigration Project.

         18                 One of the reasons that we emphasize

         19  collecting this information at the intake stage is

         20  because, as Ms. Elgabry stated in her testimony, our

         21  clients the children themselves are not often able

         22  to self- identify or self- report.  They may have

         23  come to this country at a very young age.  We've had

         24  experiences with several of our clients who had

         25  absolutely no idea because their parents had hidden
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          2  it from them that they were not United States

          3  Citizens; that they were not born in this country.

          4  They had lived out their experiences as Americans

          5  and for all intents and purposes as U.S. Citizens

          6  until it comes to the point where they have to apply

          7  for a social security card as they are applying for

          8  jobs or for student loans and realize that they're

          9  ineligible.

         10                 So, the reason we emphasize getting

         11  that information from parents or caretakers at the

         12  intake stage is because first our clients may not be

         13  able to self- identify.  Secondly, it's often been

         14  our experience in Article 10 proceedings, child

         15  abuse and neglect proceedings.  Sometimes the

         16  respondent or the caretaker or even in the

         17  voluntary, the person who signed the youngster into

         18  care disappears and there's only one opportunity at

         19  that intake stage that we're able to communicate

         20  with the adult who might have this very important

         21  information.

         22                 I understand and respect entirely the

         23  point that Mr. Richter made which is that,

         24  obviously, ACS is charged with the very weighty task

         25  of insuring the well- being of these children and
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          2  they have some immediate safety concerns that

          3  they're trying to assess in the very beginning which

          4  is why we're simply asking for country of origin.

          5  We're not asking that any caseworker or intake

          6  person make any sort of a determination about SIJS

          7  eligibility or about referrals or even really focus

          8  on it as an immigration issue but if it becomes part

          9  of the practice at the intake point to get this as a

         10  piece of statistical information in the manner that

         11  they might get a child's birth date then I think it

         12  would standardize the process and insure that more

         13  of these cases are flagged.  We absolutely support

         14  the Preparing Youth for Adulthood initiative that

         15  has been spoken of and we applaud the initiative and

         16  evidence the ongoing commitment at ACS to prepare

         17  young people to transition towards permanency but we

         18  are worried about those younger children who might

         19  fall through the cracks.  Also, there's the matter

         20  of enforcement with such a diffused group of

         21  contract agencies if this documentation is not

         22  provided; if the birth certificate is not acquired

         23  in a timely fashion as required by the initiative or

         24  the social security card is not applied for.  The

         25  absence of the birth certificate or the absence of
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          2  the social security card doesn't tell us as

          3  advocates anything about the child.  It simply means

          4  that the agency hasn't retrieved or applied for

          5  those documents whereas a country of birth tells us

          6  something about the child.  The designation gives

          7  us- it's not dispositive that the child may not be

          8  SIJS eligible due to the permanency goal or may have

          9  adjusted status some other way.  But it does, at

         10  least, set up a red flag if the child was not born

         11  in the United States.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. ELGABRY:  I'd like to respond to

         13  that also.  In relation to Executive Order 41, we

         14  would like to stress that, as Ms. Hinojosa said that

         15  we're not asking them to collect immigration status.

         16    We're asking for country of origin which could

         17  cover a wide variety of immigration status and also

         18  it would be for the purpose of providing services

         19  which we feel is not within the idea of Executive

         20  41.  Also, I'd just like to recognize that ACS has

         21  expressed their intent to improve the services for

         22  SIJS eligible children and we do recognize that what

         23  we'd just like to ask is for staffing to occur that

         24  would be responsible for making those things happen.

         25    Advising the foster care agencies may not be
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          2  something that would be carried out to all the

          3  different levels and all the daily requirements that

          4  immigration attorneys need in order to make these

          5  cases move quickly through the system.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Dr. Earner,

          7  give your testimony.

          8                 DR. EARNER:   Thank you very much.

          9  I'm going to skip the first part of my testimony

         10  with the permission of both Chairs if you don't

         11  mind.  I think it's nice reading.  You can read it

         12  at your leisure.  I do want to thank you for

         13  inviting myself as an Immigrant's and Child Welfare

         14  Project to testify before you.

         15                 I do want to address what I think was

         16  raised and it's been brought up in terms of the

         17  training of foster care services providers and I

         18  think you also raised this concern in terms of the

         19  lack of knowledge that many of them seem to have

         20  about issues related to immigration status of the

         21  clients in front of them.  I think that there are

         22  quite a few questions that have been asked and I

         23  think that they require answers.  While ACS has made

         24  tremendous strides in addressing the issues of

         25  immigrant families' children and youth that do come
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          2  under its jurisdiction and I do believe that no

          3  doubt these efforts have made a difference in the

          4  lives of  many children and families.

          5                 But the question we have before us is

          6  how much of a difference?  How many immigrant

          7  children are in care?  Why don't we know that

          8  answer?  Who's responsible for ensuring that

          9  immigration status issues are addressed?  Not just

         10  SIJS alone but other immigration status issues as

         11  well.  And the question of how many children are

         12  being failed.  What mechanism does ACS have in place

         13  to insure the contract providers have the ability to

         14  address the needs of the immigrant families and

         15  children that come before them? I'm going to base

         16  these questions on some hard facts.  I have data, by

         17  the way.  Since 2005, I provide pro bono technical

         18  assistance to the Adolescent Services Resource

         19  Network. This is an organization that focuses- you

         20  can't hear me?  My voice is loud enough.  This is an

         21  organization that focuses on independent living for

         22  youth in care.  For them I developed a training

         23  entitled Permanency Planning for Immigrant Youth in

         24  Care. Since our last meeting in June when you first

         25  raised this question, I've conducted three
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          2  trainings.  They were attended by a total of 82

          3  services providers.  These included ACS field office

          4  staff. These were managers and supervisors, by the

          5  way.  Also members from the New York State Office of

          6  Family and Children Services and staff from eight

          7  foster care agencies and these were not newly hired

          8  staff.  These were supervisors.

          9                 I am astounded to report that not a

         10  single person in attendance at these trainings was

         11  aware of not only SIJS but other forms of

         12  immigration relief that are available to youth.

         13  Even more disturbing was that none of them had

         14  reported seeing a copy of the ACS handbook on

         15  immigration status and language access guidelines.

         16                 Yet, many in these trainings

         17  reported:  Oh yes, we have these kids on our case

         18  load.  Oh yes, they have aged- out.  For me it is

         19  heart- breaking when I hear someone say I wish I had

         20  known. I wish I had known?  I wish I had known is a

         21  response more appropriate to talking about a sales

         22  at Macy's that you missed not when you're talking

         23  about, Oh, you just condemned a child to a life of

         24  exploitation and possible deportation.  I wish I had

         25  known. Where is the sense of urgency?  You are
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          2  holding the life of a child in your hands.  Don't

          3  loose sight of that.  Even one falling through the

          4  cracks is not good enough.

          5                 I have to say that in the ten years

          6  since I first raised the issue of immigrants and

          7  child welfare, if the best effort that ACS can come

          8  up with is a handbook and a committee, you know

          9  what?  At this point, it's not good enough.

         10  Systemic change has to take place.  I do have a

         11  series of recommendations that I offered to you and

         12  I would say that not only should they encourage

         13  child welfare workers to attend their trainings on

         14  immigration issues, they should require them.  The

         15  requirement should extend not only to ACS staff but

         16  to their contract services providers as well.  In

         17  fact, contracts should not be renewed unless

         18  agencies comply with their handbook on immigration

         19  status and language access guidelines.  I don't see

         20  what the problem is there.  For God's sake, it's

         21  your contractor.  You tell them what to do.

         22                 Also, in terms of training Juvenile

         23  Court and Family Court personnel, this is also

         24  essential.  It's just across the board, as others

         25  have talked about here in terms of the systemic
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          2  changes that need to take place, I don't think that

          3  they're that difficult to implement.  It takes

          4  political will and it takes, I would say, moral will

          5  as well.  I think that in terms of your oversight of

          6  ACS, perhaps you should impress that upon them as

          7  well.  That this is an obligation, not a privilege.

          8                 Lastly, I want to raise the issue

          9  also that, as far as Special Immigrant Juvenile

         10  Status is important and is a form of relief that is

         11  available to those who are eligible for it. It is

         12  absolutely critical.  It is also not the only form

         13  of immigration relief available.  I have yet to hear

         14  any discussion of T- visas, U visas, VAWA,

         15  unaccompanied minor.  All of these are potential

         16  forms of immigration relief available to the

         17  children that come under their jurisdiction.  Those

         18  need to be assessed as well.  We can't move forward

         19  with SIJS as a one size fits all model.  That's

         20  going to allow others to begin to fall through the

         21  cracks as well.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I am glad the

         24  Mr. Lewis is still here because I would ask if you

         25  could do one favor to please communicate your
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          2  specific recommendations to us and we will get it

          3  over to ACS to ask them to make those

          4  recommendations that are direct so we can follow- up

          5  with that.

          6                 The other thing that I want to

          7  mention here is that all of you heard what was said

          8  earlier by the Administration and I would like you

          9  to, at least, comment on some of the issues that

         10  they've- you see how we try to press some of the

         11  issues there.  I want you to comment because what

         12  you have just said to me in some way is

         13  contradictory to what he has said and what's being

         14  done.  If you're saying that the folks that came to

         15  you with the training they did not know anything

         16  about SIJS and they did not understand what it's all

         17  about, it tells me it's even further than that.

         18  It's worst than that because those are people who

         19  have been in the system for a longer time than

         20  people who are just being employed. So I would like

         21  to hear your distinct recommendations so that at

         22  least we can forward it to the Administration so

         23  that they can try to put these things in place

         24  because to me I get mixed feelings now because I

         25  thought everything was fine until you spoke  I
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          2  thought everything was on stream until you spoke

          3  because the last time we met there was the notion

          4  that everything was on track and all these kids will

          5  be taken care of in some way and, right now, I would

          6  like to hear much more about how do we identify

          7  these kids?  How do we deal with training?  And how

          8  ACS can follow through with those issues.

          9                 I will ask my colleague I think he

         10  has a comment to make.  He has some questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Thank you Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 Well, first of all.  I want to say on

         14  behalf of the people in my district, we're very

         15  proud that Ilse is one of our constituents in the

         16  39th Council District.  So, Brooklyn once again

         17  providing leadership in New York City.  To put a

         18  plug in there.

         19                 But it's kind of shocking when you

         20  look at Ilse's summary of her efforts over 10 years

         21  to raise the issue and the fact that some of the key

         22  players in ACS were hearing about this five and six

         23  years ago.  That is sobering because this doesn't

         24  appear to me to be -- exactly, thank you Council.

         25  It doesn't appear to be an overwhelming challenge.
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          2  It appears to have its complexity and yes, there's

          3  always resource issues but, again, given the

          4  enormous impact on the kids involved, I'm a little

          5  confused why more hasn't been done.  I think our job

          6  now is to create urgency. I think urgency is exactly

          7  the right word because it's just the shear magnitude

          8  of the impact this can have on the children

          9  involved.

         10                 I think your recommendations are very

         11  straight forward and, on first blush, I don't see

         12  anything about them that I can't agree with and I

         13  would think ACS should look very seriously on them

         14  and adopt these or give us a reason why they can't.

         15  But they look very straight- forward and very well

         16  thought out.

         17                 Let me ask you just cause I don't

         18  understand the last part on recommendation five.  I

         19  don't want to get into a discussion of immigration

         20  law that I'm sure I will not be able to keep up with

         21  but just give a definition on the different types of

         22  the T and U visas, the VAWA, the unaccompanied

         23  minor.  Just give us a little bit of a flavor of how

         24  each of those work.

         25                 DR. EARNER:  Well, I'm not an
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          2  attorney so--

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Anyone on the

          4  panel who would like to just fill in the blanks on

          5  those.

          6

          7                 MS. ELGABRY:  I could say a little

          8  bit about that. The T and U visas are- the T visas

          9  is related to if a child was trafficked into the

         10  country, they may be able to apply for legal status

         11  based on having assisted in a criminal case related

         12  to trafficking.  The U visa is related to whether a

         13  child was a victim of a crime and has assisted in

         14  the prosecution of that crime and that also may

         15  include having assisted in an investigation by ACS

         16  in a neglect case.  So those are two possible arenas

         17  for undocumented children that don't have the same

         18  requirements as SIJS and in some cases may be an

         19  alternative to SIJS where the reunification is still

         20  a goal and but these children may be able to explore

         21  whether those visas would apply to them.  So, in

         22  that sense, if ACS recorded whether a child was

         23  foreign- born and looked into whether the child may

         24  not have legal permanent residency, they should be

         25  referred to an immigration attorney for that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  And VAWA?

          3                 MS. ELGABRY:  VAWA is for victims of

          4  domestic violence can get legal permanent residency

          5  and their children can get derivative status.  So it

          6  would be often in the case where a child or a

          7  domestic violence victim may be eligible to be part

          8  of a case in order to get legal permanent resident

          9  status if the parent was married to a legal

         10  permanent resident who was the abuser.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Okay.  And

         12  obviously asylum and refugee speak for themselves.

         13  All right.  That's very, very helpful.  Thank you

         14  and thank you again Mr. Chairman for the opportunity

         15  to ask those questions but I really want to thank

         16  everyone in this panel.  I think this is extremely

         17  helpful in educating us so we can continue to keep

         18  positive pressure on ACS to make changes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I know that

         20  most of your testimony was directly dealt with ACS.

         21  But what about those cases that are not with ACS.

         22  Do you have any comments?

         23                 DR. EARNER:  Well, I do have comment

         24  and it was disconcerting to hear that, in terms of

         25  ACS' understanding of cultural competency, they
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          2  don't include- I have to say from my perspective if

          3  you're a social worker and you're working with

          4  immigrant families, part of cultural competency is

          5  also understanding the impact of immigration status.

          6    Knowing and have knowledge about immigration

          7  status is a very important part of your culturally

          8  competent practice.

          9                   So, I fail to see that we're making

         10  this distinction that we're solely focused on

         11  reunification and not on immigration status issues.

         12  You're working with foreign- born populations.

         13  Immigration status is the first thing that really

         14  impacts their #1: Ability to access services, and

         15  #2: In terms of the kind of lives that they can lead

         16  here.  It's not- I think we can make a correlation

         17  the data clearly shows us that the foreign born

         18  population is disproportionately poor and why is

         19  that? Poverty is highly correlated with your being

         20  able to work a legal job; to live a legal life.  If

         21  you can't do that and you have no access to public

         22  benefits, you're looking at families that are

         23  falling into very distressful situations that create

         24  tremendous stress on families.  I think that it

         25  certainly behooves an organization who is attentive
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          2  to issues of prevention to also make that knowledge

          3  available to preventive services providers.  I think

          4  it is important.  As I said, to me knowledge about

          5  immigration status is culturally competent practice.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You could- one

          7  of the previous panels state that basically that

          8  ACS' job is basically to try to reunify that child

          9  with family and it's not so much for immigration

         10  purpose.  I would like you to comment on that

         11  because the fact is they give the impression that

         12  they will not seek to help as far as immigration is

         13  concerned until such time if the courts or some

         14  entity agency has made the determination that it's

         15  going to be long- term care or going to be kinship

         16  guardian- whatever it is.  That's not their goal to

         17  help them into that process.  Their goal is to

         18  reunify that child.

         19                 DR. EARNER:  As I said, I think that

         20  that's an unfortunate perspective in terms of

         21  looking at the whole picture in working with

         22  families, particularly immigrant families.

         23                 Reunification is certain- it is a

         24  worthy goal. Certainly we know that families are

         25  best able to care for their own children.  But if
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          2  you're not looking at immigration status as a factor

          3  involved in a family's ability to meet the needs of

          4  all of its members, I think you're falling short.

          5                 We have encouraged- I do sit on the

          6  Immigrant Advisory Board which was spoken about and

          7  we have encouraged ACS to use community- based

          8  organizations as resources for addressing

          9  immigration status issues if they're not willing to

         10  do that themselves.  There are organizations that do

         11  that kind of work. The problem is, of course,

         12  funding and resources and organizations do get

         13  overwhelmed.  But I think that- I would encourage in

         14  terms of good practice with foreign- born

         15  populations, you have to address immigration status.

         16    It is important.  There may be times that there is

         17  relief available to families which you need to be

         18  aware of and encourage families to seek the kind of

         19  counsel that can best help them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Could you

         21  please give an example of additional service

         22  refugees and asylees (phonetic) and some of the

         23  other groups are entitled to while under ACS besides

         24  these provided by ACS in terms of cash and rent and

         25  all of that? Can you provide any of that
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          2  information?

          3                 DR. EARNER:  In terms of services

          4  available to families?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah.

          6                 DR. EARNER:  Well, families in New

          7  York are eligible for certain types of services

          8  regardless of immigration status. This includes, for

          9  instance, the ACS housing subsidy which is certainly

         10  important and also in terms of Child Health Plus and

         11  also certain food programs which do not require

         12  divulging immigration status in order to access

         13  these benefits.  However, for federally funded

         14  benefits, you do have to disclose immigration

         15  status. Therefore, again in terms of- I think it's a

         16  funny interpretation of Executive Order 41 that you

         17  don't ask about immigration status ever.  Well, yes

         18  you do.  In fact in their handbook it talks about

         19  you ask about it for the purposes of determining

         20  eligibility for benefits and services.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         22                 My last question, I don't know if my

         23  colleagues have any questions but my last question

         24  is you noted that mandatory training.  I would like

         25  to see that happen but until we have some sort of
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          2  entity within ACS that deals directly with this

          3  immigration topic that has it's own budget and has

          4  it's own line that's dealing with this issue, I can

          5  see we're going to run in circles.  I was trying to

          6  get, I forgot his name now, from the Department to

          7  at least acknowledge that Mr. Lewis needs a staff.

          8  He needs an entire staff to deal with this issue and

          9  so that they can make sure that even not only the

         10  folks within ACS to get that training but any agency

         11  or any CVO, anyone that has to deal with children

         12  are trained as far as immigration is concerned to

         13  deal with SIJS and the benefits of such.

         14                 DR. EARNER:  I think Mr. Lewis could

         15  use a unit.

         16                 MS. ELGABRY:  We couldn't agree more.

         17    One of the things that I had wanted to say was

         18  that Mark Lewis has been a great resource and he's

         19  been very helpful on individual SIJS cases that

         20  we've gone to him to.  He's been able to assist us.

         21  And Harry Gelb, who was mentioned in the testimony

         22  who is a supervising attorney in the Bronx, is also

         23  an invaluable resource and a wonderful man to boot.

         24  But both of them, Harry Gelb is essentially just a

         25  supervisor in the Bronx who takes these SIJS duties

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEES ON GENERAL WELFARE AND IMMIGRATION

          2  on out of the goodness of his heart.  He does not

          3  have an official position.  He's simply a very

          4  responsible, caring attorney who has developed an

          5  expertise in this area over his many years of

          6  practice.

          7                 Mark Lewis is, as I said, a great

          8  resource but he has a lot on his plate.  He's

          9  responsible for overseeing a lot of non- SIJS or

         10  other immigration- related issues.  He oversees

         11  cultural competency issues.  These committee issues

         12  of translation and materials and there's a lot on

         13  his plate right now.  We couldn't emphasize more the

         14  importance of having a staff that would be dedicated

         15  to SIJS and other immigration- related issues so

         16  that we can identify the children in care early on.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, I

         18  understand that and I know Mr. Lewis might be afraid

         19  to say well, listen, I do not a staff and all of

         20  that but we are going to push the issue to make sure

         21  that somehow, before this budget comes around, that

         22  there's something there to make sure that the

         23  children in foster care and kinship, guardian,

         24  whatever, has folks who are really dedicated to deal

         25  with their issues so we would not be left wanting
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          2  for services of this nature.

          3                 Once again, I want to thank you.  Mr.

          4  Chair do you have any final comments?

          5                 I want to thank you for your

          6  testimony.  We're going to follow- up on these

          7  issues to make sure that children in this situation

          8  does not go aged- out or anything like that.  We're

          9  going to be working diligently to make sure that ACS

         10  and the Administration work on this issue.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 MS. ELGABRY:  Thank you.

         13                 DR. EARNER:  Thank you.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you so

         15  much.  We would like to call up our next and last

         16  panel.  Ghita Schwarz from The Door Legal Services.

         17  Emiko Cortes from Catholic Charities and Julie

         18  Dinnerstein from Sanctuary for Families.

         19                 MS. SCHWARZ:  Good afternoon.  My

         20  name is Guita Schwarz and I am the Chadbourne &

         21  Parke Fellow and Staff Attorney at the Door Legal

         22  Services Center.  We thank Chairperson Stewart,

         23  Chairperson DeBlasio and Members of the Immigration

         24  and General Welfare Committees for the opportunity

         25  to testify and for your commitment to the needs of
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          2  immigrant youth.

          3                 The Door is New York City's largest

          4  multi- service youth development organization.

          5  Since 1972, we have provided young people ages 12-

          6  21 with a comprehensive range of free services,

          7  including tutoring, counseling, health care, art

          8  classes, career development and legal services.

          9  More than 8,000 young people participated in Door

         10  activities last year and 750 received legal

         11  assistance for free.

         12                 Our Legal Services Center provides

         13  free representation and advice in legal matters

         14  including public assistance, housing, foster care

         15  rights, education and immigration advocacy.

         16  Immigration services are by far our largest area of

         17  need comprising about 40% of our total cases.  A

         18  large number of our young clients are eligible for

         19  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.

         20                 Chairperson Stewart gave an outline

         21  of the law that benefits young immigrants not only

         22  in foster care but also in guardianships or

         23  guardianship- like situations.  Because my

         24  colleagues have testified so ostensibly on children

         25  in foster care, we're going to limit our remarks to
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          2  the needs of kids outside of the foster care system.

          3    We fully support the testimony of Lawyer's for

          4  Children and the other agencies who are testifying

          5  today.

          6                 All SIJS eligible youth, whether they

          7  are in foster care or outside of foster care must be

          8  approved by the USCIS for lawful permanent residence

          9  before they turn 21.  The young person does not find

         10  a knowledgeable legal advocate substantially before

         11  aged- out and usually before the age of 18.  She may

         12  loose her only opportunity to obtain lawful

         13  permanent residents.  As you know, with it the

         14  chance to work legally; obtain financial aid for

         15  college and live a productive life.

         16                 Currently, there is no city

         17  institution which has a system for screening or

         18  identifying SIJS eligible youth who are outside of

         19  the foster care system.  These cases I'm going to

         20  referred to as guardianship SIJS.  There is

         21  absolutely no public funding for any kind of

         22  representation for SIJS eligible kids and

         23  guardianships.  We do receive some private funding

         24  but there is currently no public support for it.

         25                 At the Door we do almost no outreach
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          2  to SIJS eligible youth, but our caseloads are

          3  overflowing.  A good portion of these kids make

          4  contact with us through the juvenile docket at

          5  Immigration Court where we screen cases for

          6  eligibility and partnership with catholic charities

          7  and the legal aid society.  But most of our kids

          8  find us through word of mouth, through friend

          9  referrals, through contact with a school guidance

         10  counselor, maybe a social worker at a hospital.  In

         11  some cases because a judge at immigration or Family

         12  Court has referred them.  These are, as you know,

         13  very, very isolated young people and it's really a

         14  miracle that any of them find us.  We are absolutely

         15  certain that the lack of awareness, outreach and

         16  intervention in city institutions is causing many

         17  young people to loose their only opportunity to win

         18  legal status.

         19                 We have a few proposals for flagging

         20  and referring SIJS eligible youth and also for

         21  serving them once they are referred.  We feel that

         22  improving awareness of the SIJS benefit and doing

         23  even minimal advocacy will really do an enormous

         24  service to immigrant communities and to these young

         25  immigrants many of whom are living in ignorance of
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          2  the realities of immigration law.

          3                 We propose the following:  1)

          4  education of school officials.  The Department of

          5  Education has an enormous opportunity to reach

          6  immigrant kids many of whom are undocumented and

          7  some of whom have a lot of trust in the teachers and

          8  counselors at school. Local schools and regional

          9  enrollment centers at the DOE should have legal

         10  referrals available for all new students but

         11  particularly those who are being enrolled by non-

         12  parents.  Many, many young people are living in a de

         13  facto guardianship with an aunt or a step- parent

         14  once the natural parent took off or with a neighbor.

         15    That person never thinks to go to Family Court to

         16  get a court sanctioned guardianship but that's the

         17  step that will allow the child to apply for

         18  immigration status.  The DOE is really in a great

         19  position to try to help these kids identify for

         20  themselves that they may need legal referral.  The

         21  school system should be able to develop other ways

         22  of making appropriate and confidential legal

         23  referrals not just at enrollment but also later

         24  through teachers and through guidance staff.  A

         25  large number of the young people that we serve come
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          2  to us when they are 17 or over because when they met

          3  with the guidance counselor about applying financial

          4  aid for college, all the pieces came together and

          5  they realized they might not be able to do that.  If

          6  they come at 17 and they are eligible, it's not too

          7  late but there should be other ways to find them

          8  rather than just the last stop in school and also

          9  many young people who are not college- bound but who

         10  still should be able to work should have other means

         11  of getting to us.

         12                 There's been a lot of talk about ACS'

         13  data collection and we would just like to strongly

         14  support Lawyer's for Children proposal about

         15  documenting country of birth and making referrals at

         16  the investigation and child protective stage.  ACS

         17  enters a child's life long before she's taken into

         18  foster care. Many children who have some contact

         19  with ACS investigators frequently resolve home

         20  conflicts not through the formal court system but

         21  informally.  By moving in with a relative or another

         22  adult.

         23                 There is usually no further

         24  intervention by ACS and an important opportunity to

         25  let these kids know that they may be able to get
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          2  immigration status can be lost.  So, we propose that

          3  ACS provide children with a referral to a competent

          4  immigrant's rights attorney at the child protective

          5  stage.  At the investigation stage.  This includes,

          6  at the investigation stage, when a guardian goes to

          7  court to file for the guardianship.  ACS usually

          8  makes a trip out to the house to make sure it's a

          9  safe home.  That would be a great place for ACS to

         10  provide a legal referral.  Legal referrals should

         11  just be part of family support and preventive

         12  services for all young immigrants not just those who

         13  may be SIJS eligible.

         14                 We also propose an outreach campaign

         15  for children who have been to doctors, (sic) medical

         16  clinics.  Frequently, children in the medical crisis

         17  are seen by social workers but even in City

         18  hospitals they never receive any information about

         19  ways to address their immigration status.  We've

         20  kids who have given birth two different times in the

         21  same hospital and were never referred for legal

         22  assistance or even to ACS for abuse.

         23                 We also believe that it would be

         24  very, very, very productive for the City Council to

         25  help us initiate outreach to local communities.
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          2  Specially those who do not have a lot of access to

          3  city institutions.  We currently at the door work

          4  with community groups all over the City to try to

          5  get this information out to them because many, many

          6  undocumented immigrants, as you may understand, are

          7  not really willing to come forward even to a doctor

          8  or a teacher.

          9                 We strongly believe that there needs

         10  to be increased funding for legal services for SIJS

         11  eligible youth.  Non- profit legal services programs

         12  are uniquely positioned to serve these kids.  We're

         13  not part of any government institution and we have

         14  ethical mandates requiring confidentiality.  We're

         15  able to cultivate a trust in young people who

         16  otherwise might be terrified to admit their status.

         17                 We urge the City Council to consider

         18  a funding initiative that would provide the

         19  following:

         20                 Immigration representation by

         21  experienced non profits.  This funding would include

         22  representation of children in foster care, children

         23  in guardianships or potential guardianships and

         24  unaccompanied minors in removal proceedings before

         25  the immigration court.
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          2                 Second, we believe it's crucial to

          3  raise awareness among staff at the DOE, at ACS, at

          4  hospitals and clinics and among immigrant community

          5  groups.  Legal services workers could be funded to

          6  train these groups and these staff at least in

          7  recognizing the need for a referral so that kids and

          8  their families or the people taking care of them are

          9  able to identify resources that might be able to

         10  help them.  An additional benefit of this, even for

         11  kids who are not eligible to adjust their status is

         12  that if there is a lot more access to non- profit

         13  legal services organizations, we can prevent a lot

         14  of kids going to fraudulent immigration attorneys

         15  frequently paying thousands of dollars only to have

         16  their case ruined or to pursue a case that really

         17  doesn't exist.  So we would be providing a service

         18  not just to SIJS eligible but to lots of other

         19  immigrant kids as well.

         20                 In conclusion, the young people who

         21  make it to the door we believe represent a tiny,

         22  tiny portion of the number of SIJS eligible kids in

         23  this hidden category outside of foster care. There

         24  is just nothing more heart- breaking than speaking

         25  to a young immigrant who has suffered awful abuse
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          2  and abandonment but aged out of eligibility before

          3  speaking to a free attorney.  New York City can do

          4  much more to identify, screen and serve these

          5  immigrant youths.  We're deeply grateful to the City

          6  Council for recognizing and addressing the needs of

          7  this under- served group of kids.  Thank you.

          8                 MS. CORTES:  Good afternoon.  My name

          9  is Emiko Furuya- Cortes and I'm a Staff Attorney at

         10  the Immigration Services Department of Catholic

         11  Charities Community Services, Archdiocese of New

         12  York, an agency that has represented the interests

         13  of thousands of immigrants each year for more than

         14  40 years.

         15                 I want to thank the City Council for

         16  sponsoring this hearing today on ACS procedures for

         17  identifying immigrant children in and out of foster

         18  care who might be eligible for SIJS protection.

         19                 By way of introduction, Catholic

         20  Charities Community Services of the Archdiocese of

         21  New York assists the poor and vulnerable of all

         22  religions with almost any human need including

         23  programs for the homeless, youths, neglected

         24  children, the elderly, immigrants and those living

         25  with HIV/AIDS.  In particular, we are one of the
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          2  largest immigration legal services providers in New

          3  York State helping more than 2,000 individuals every

          4  year with legal advice and representation before the

          5  immigration authorities.

          6                 I wish first to express our support

          7  for the comments and recommendations regarding the

          8  identification of children outside of the foster

          9  care system and assistance to those within that we

         10  have heard so far and will hear later or already

         11  heard from agencies such as the Door, Legal Aid

         12  Society and Lawyers with Children.  The only

         13  different, I would note, is that we would support

         14  funding outside the agencies to conduct the actual

         15  SIJS legal work rather than placing the work within

         16  the ACS.

         17                 I want to talk to you about a few

         18  discreet issues which we believe are another part of

         19  the unmet needs of immigrant children in New York

         20  City.  Since congress' passage of the Special

         21  Immigrant juvenile Status provision in 1990,

         22  Catholic Charities has offered legal services to

         23  hundreds of young immigrants, to those who are in

         24  deportation proceedings and to those whose

         25  applications are being processed administratively.
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          2  Mindful of our mission to address unmet needs in the

          3  community, over the course of the last year and a

          4  half we have focused a great proportion of our legal

          5  resources on those immigrant youths who are in

          6  detention at the Children's Village Detention

          7  Facility in Flushing, Queens and on those kids who

          8  are appearing unrepresented in Immigration Court at

          9  what is known as the Juvenile Docket.

         10                 Since January of 2006, our lawyers

         11  have made twice monthly visits to Children's Village

         12  to give legal orientation presentation and conduct

         13  individual screening and consultation to the 12

         14  children who cycle through the facility each month.

         15  With the coordination and assistance of the St.

         16  John's Law School Refugee and Immigrant's Rights

         17  Clinic and the Latin American Law Students

         18  Association, Catholic Charities lawyers have trained

         19  second and third year law students to assist in

         20  conducting legal presentations and in creating a

         21  pool of constant and competent interpreters.

         22                 The children who find themselves at

         23  Children's Village are, by definition, outside of

         24  the City's foster care system.  Likewise, ACS does

         25  not know them.  They are in the sole custody of the
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          2  Office of Refugee Resettlement, a department of

          3  Health and Human Services, with the knowledge and

          4  consent of Immigration and Customs Enforcement of

          5  the Department of Homeland Security.  I am here

          6  today to urge that the City take steps to make

          7  available to these children local foster care or

          8  guardianship arrangements so that they can be

          9  released from custody and not have to forfeit legal

         10  remedies as is often the case.

         11                 Kids in Children's Village are in

         12  federal detention custody.  They are called

         13  unaccompanied minors which means they are under 18

         14  years- old and were apprehended upon entry into the

         15  United States.  They have not been charged with or

         16  convicted of any crimes.  While we often see kids of

         17  teenage years, we do occasionally encounter ones who

         18  are younger.  Just last week we met with a child who

         19  was only four years old.  If the child knows or has

         20  a connection to a legal permanent resident or United

         21  States Citizen relative or friend, she may be

         22  released from the custody to that friend or

         23  relative, known as a sponsor, anywhere in the United

         24  States.

         25                 If she does not have contact with a
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          2  possible sponsor or the sponsor refuses to come

          3  forward, the child will stay at the detention

          4  facility until she's returned home.  Or her case is

          5  transferred to another state.  This is a very common

          6  situation.  In those cases, should the child appear

          7  eligible for SIJS or even asylum or T visa, that is

          8  the visa for a victim of trafficking, or U visas,

          9  victim of certain crimes, she will be transferred to

         10  foster care in another jurisdiction in the United

         11  States, whether Michigan, Florida or Texas.

         12                 New York City does not, at this time,

         13  receive children from Children's Village into its

         14  foster care structure. This is both inexplicable and

         15  unacceptable as it is a situation that directly

         16  affect children's well- being and the practical and

         17  legal choices they make.  Children who face the

         18  prospect of transfer to another state, long

         19  administrative or court delays, continued and

         20  further uncertainly and, worse, possible indefinite

         21  detention, almost always choose to abandon their

         22  claims and return home.

         23                 We have witnessed children who

         24  presented credible history and evidence of torture

         25  by gangs and harm by other persecutors, abuse and
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          2  victimization by family and neglect or abandonment

          3  by parents who still chose to return to their home

          4  country after understanding that, again, be

          5  dislocated and significantly delayed while

          6  processing their claims elsewhere. Significant

          7  factors for them where how schooling might continue,

          8  the difficulties of making changes again and their

          9  concern that the lawyers whom they had met with over

         10  several months and had learned to trust would not be

         11  able to represent them in the future.

         12                 We believe that if the City offered

         13  reasonable foster care or alternative guardianship

         14  arrangements for these children, they would have a

         15  real chance to pursue their cases more thoroughly

         16  and not have to make negative decisions because of

         17  their fear of being delayed, further detained and

         18  otherwise dislocated.

         19                 This will be an easy, achievable goal

         20  of very modest proportions.  Routine communications

         21  between ACS and our offices, in conjunction with the

         22  staff of Children's Village, would ensure that

         23  children who appeared eligible for SIJS or other

         24  protection could be transferred and placed in

         25  timely, safe and unobtrusive way.
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          2                 As it stands, even when the system's

          3  procedures do work and the child is eager to

          4  cooperate, it is not unusual that his best interest

          5  are not protected.  Take the case of young Jorge, a

          6  Guatemalan indigenous Indian.  He had been sent out

          7  of the home to work in the United States at age 17.

          8  He was apprehended upon entry and after three months

          9  of detention in New York, was diagnosed with a

         10  serious cardiac disease.  He received care at a

         11  local hospital in Queens.

         12                 As the facts about his dire family

         13  situation became more clear, we began to look into

         14  his transfer to another jurisdiction to pursue SIJS

         15  status.  New York City could not offer him care and

         16  Children's Village is not a long- term facility.

         17  Therefore, Jorge's case had to be transferred.   But

         18  his transfer to Texas did not occur until a few

         19  weeks before his 18th birthday which made it

         20  impossible to even begin Family Court proceedings

         21  there.  As a result, Jorge both lost the opportunity

         22  to apply for SIJS and lost the pediatric

         23  cardiologist that had followed him here.  His future

         24  is now very uncertain.

         25                 In conclusion, I would also like to
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          2  mention that the Catholic Charities Federation has

          3  ten child care agencies serving approximately 4,800

          4  children in foster care with whom campus facilities,

          5  diagnostic retention centers and non- secure

          6  detention facilities.

          7                 Thank you very much for this

          8  opportunity to testify.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Thank you.  I

         10  want to ask a question.  I'm very happy you raised

         11  this specific dynamic to our attention and it's very

         12  troubling so I really appreciate you helping us

         13  understand it.  Now, why is there such an emphasis

         14  on moving a child's case?  I'm confused by that.  If

         15  they're not moving to deportation, I don't

         16  understand why it is more advantageous in the eyes

         17  of the federal policy to move the child to another

         18  state.  Can you help explain that?

         19                 MS. CORTES:  I would really like to

         20  but, in fact the attorney who usually deals with

         21  these cases was not able to come today.  His name is

         22  Mario Russell.  I will be happy to take the question

         23  back and answer you unless other colleagues probably

         24  can do that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Your
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          2  colleagues know that.

          3                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  My name is Julie

          4  Dinnerstein.  I'm an immigration attorney with

          5  Sanctuary for Families.

          6                 I think specifically when children

          7  are in federal immigration custody, one of the

          8  options for those children is to move into the

          9  foster care system of the city or state where they

         10  have been detained.  What I believe my colleague has

         11  just identified is that New York City foster care is

         12  not a receiving agency for children who are

         13  detained.   So, when the federal government

         14  authorities have a detained child in immigration

         15  custody, they want to move them into foster care

         16  which would be the appropriate response for a child

         17  whose immigration matter may not be resolved for

         18  several months or years there is no foster care

         19  agency here in New York City able to take them.  So

         20  the advocacy here is that ACS be allowed, be set up

         21  to take children from immigration long- term

         22  detention, if they are detained here in New York

         23  City, and structure be set up to allow them to enter

         24  the foster care system here in New York City.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Just to help,
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          2  and I know you by no means are here to apologize or

          3  explain the federal government policy, but just to

          4  the best you can so we understand. Why would New

          5  York City or New York state not be so authorized if

          6  other states in the Union are.  I don't understand

          7  what the origin of that is.

          8                 MS. SCHWARZ:  I think the federal

          9  government operates something called Federal Foster

         10  Care where it uses local foster care systems.  To

         11  the child living in the foster home it's the same

         12  thing but the federal government has arrangements

         13  with certain localities but not with New York City.

         14  Just to add on to what Julie Dinnerstein said, many

         15  kids are moved to other states because there is a

         16  mandate on the detention facilities on Office of

         17  Refugee Resettlement to release these children to a

         18  relative or godparent as quickly as possible.

         19  Frequently they're picked up in Texas and released

         20  to Michigan or picked up in Vermont and released to

         21  California and that's part of the reason that the

         22  kids are moving around.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Well, again

         24  I'm very happy we're hearing about this and we'll

         25  follow- up with the agencies represented here but

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEES ON GENERAL WELFARE AND IMMIGRATION

          2  also again since Mr. Lewis is patiently listening to

          3  everything which we appreciate.  I think it would be

          4  helpful to understand -- we'll follow- up with ACS

          5  to understand whether it is that ACS has not sought

          6  that status or whether it's the federal government

          7  has not granted it for a particular reason but

          8  that's a very evocative example you're giving.  It

          9  sounds like there may be something there that can be

         10  done.

         11                 Thank you Mr. Chair.  Just continue

         12  with testimony.

         13                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you so

         14  much for allowing me to testify today.  As I said,

         15  my name is Julie Dinnerstein.  I'm an Immigration

         16  Attorney with Sanctuary for Families, an

         17  organization providing counseling, shelter, legal

         18  and economic stability services to victims of

         19  domestic violence and their children.  I serve as

         20  Co- Director of Sanctuary's office at the Brooklyn

         21  Family Justice Center and I've worked for Sanctuary

         22  for Families since 1999 with the exception of one

         23  year during which time I served as Deputy Director

         24  for Immigration Policy and Training at the New York

         25  Immigration Coalition.
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          2                 In addition to my full- time

          3  employment with Sanctuary for  Families, I'm a

          4  member of the adjunct faculty at CUNY School for

          5  Professional Studies where I teach immigration law.

          6  And for particular importance for today's remarks, I

          7  also serve as an outside trainer for the James

          8  Satterwhite Academy, the Administration for

          9  Children's Services' training institute where I

         10  train ACS workers on immigration law for a full day

         11  approximately once per month.

         12                 Almost 40% of New Yorkers are

         13  foreign- born and two thirds of all New York

         14  households have at least one foreign- born member.

         15  These often cited statistics are well know.

         16                 With figures that high one would

         17  imagine that families who come into contact with ACS

         18  would be screened for potential need for immigration

         19  legal services and that such immigration legal

         20  services would be paid for just as readily as ACS

         21  screens for domestic violence or drug and alcohol

         22  abuse and where a problem is identified, pays for

         23  responsive services.  In fact, lack of legal

         24  immigration status could easily explain why many

         25  parents stay in households with other adults who
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          2  commit acts of domestic violence or abuse drug or

          3  alcohol as such parents may fear being reported to

          4  immigration authorities or may lack employment

          5  authorization or access to public benefits.

          6                 Obtaining lawful permanent residence

          7  status, what is popularly known as a green card, and

          8  ultimately U.S. Citizenship is critical to stability

          9  for children and their families. Unfortunately for

         10  many families, due to federal laws that are beyond

         11  the control of either the families themselves or the

         12  government of the City of New York, legal

         13  immigration status is not obtainable for many,

         14  perhaps most, immigrants without immigration status.

         15    What is popularly known as undocumented.

         16                 However, through a real variety of

         17  mechanisms, and I want to join my colleagues today

         18  in emphasizing that there are many options for non-

         19  citizens who don't have immigration status that are

         20  particularly relevant to children and families

         21  connected to foster care system.  There are a

         22  variety of mechanisms.  Special Immigrant Juvenile

         23  Status, the U visa for crime victims and a number of

         24  different immigration provisions under the Violence

         25  Against Women Act.  A number of New Yorkers,
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          2  particularly children subject to abuse, abandonment

          3  or neglect and, in many cases, one or more of their

          4  parents are eligible to obtain immigration status.

          5                 The heartbreak that so many people

          6  have spoken about eloquently today is that so many

          7  of these undocumented New Yorkers do not learn of

          8  the immigration laws that exist to help them obtain

          9  status.  The tragedy is that so many of these New

         10  Yorkers, both the children and their family members,

         11  are engaged in services with an agent of the City of

         12  New York, ACS, without ever learning about or being

         13  able to access the information and legal services

         14  needed to obtain immigration status and create

         15  stability and safety in their lives.

         16                 I expressed in my written testimony

         17  concern about the system, or lack thereof, for

         18  identifying young people who may need immigration

         19  status.  Again I want to emphasize young and their

         20  parents.  Reunification can often be achieved if the

         21  family members obtain immigration status or removal

         22  of children may never be required if the various

         23  family members obtained immigration status. I want

         24  to urge the Council to look at the best interest of

         25  children in the context of their entire families who
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          2  are receiving services from ACS.

          3                 So, we'll move right to my

          4  recommendations which are: (1) all families should

          5  be screened for immigration legal assistance whether

          6  or not a child is ultimately removed from the home;

          7  (2) Immigration legal assistance, either through in-

          8  house immigration attorneys hired by ACS or

          9  contracts with one or more non- profit immigration

         10  legal service providers, should be provided as a

         11  core preventative service to prevent removal in the

         12  first place, as a service to help families reunite

         13  and as a service to all children in foster care.

         14                 All service plans should include an

         15  immigration legal services plan.  For families who

         16  do not have immigration legal services needs, the

         17  plan should indicate that no immigration legal

         18  services are sought for family stability.  All other

         19  families should specifically be provided with the

         20  option of receiving consultations and, where

         21  appropriate, representation in immigration matters.

         22                 And (4), as has been said many times

         23  today, all children placed in foster care should be

         24  immediately evaluated for immigration service needs

         25  and, where appropriate, provided legal
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          2  representation.

          3                 Were the City of New York to mandate

          4  immigration screening protocols designed to identify

          5  those with needs for immigration legal services and,

          6  this is really most important for the City, and to

          7  fund immigration legal services for children and

          8  their families who come into contact with the

          9  Administration for Children's Services, the City

         10  would take an enormous leap forward in ensuring the

         11  safety and well- being of all New Yorkers.

         12                 Thank you for your attention to this

         13  critical issue for immigrant families.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You raise some

         15  real interesting issues there.  Do you have any idea

         16  what the best estimate that you feel that this will

         17  cost to set up this special focus on helping as far

         18  as immigration is concerned within ACS. What's the

         19  best estimate do you think it will cost?

         20                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I have no idea.  I

         21  have no idea what the cost would be.  I would

         22  imagine it is something similar to- something

         23  similar although less expensive than alcohol and

         24  drug treatment interventions which are actually much

         25  more costly but, again, are in place to help
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          2  families if that will help a family stay together.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  Based

          4  on ACS, they only concerned about dealing with

          5  folks, as far as SIJS is concerned, they're only

          6  concerned about dealing with folks who have been

          7  determined to be in long- term care or they have to

          8  past that bar first.  You said basically all

          9  families should be screened for need for immigration

         10  goal and legal assistance whether or not a child is

         11  removed from the home.  Are you saying that when ACS

         12  go to a home for any form of a complaint or issue

         13  they should check the legal status- the immigration

         14  status of that child?

         15                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I'd like to just

         16  clarify my testimony.  I believe that- as SIJS is

         17  only allowed under federal law for those who are in

         18  long- term foster care.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         20                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I have worked for

         21  ACS on U visa cases and on other kinds of valid

         22  cases where children are not eligible for long- term

         23  foster care.  So I think that they're focused

         24  because ACS is required to be involved in long- term

         25  foster care.  Placement is in SIJS but I have
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          2  successfully worked with ACS on cases involving

          3  other immigration remedies.

          4                 I am certainly suggesting that in an

          5  evaluation of the safety and well- being of a child

          6  and a family and their ability- their adequate

          7  housing, adequate food.  I would certain, it's not

          8  that it's a criteria, never that it should be a

          9  criteria for removing a child from home but that in

         10  accessing whether the family has what it needs to

         11  obtain safety and stability and on- going well being

         12  for the child that the immigration status.  An

         13  initial assessment is part of that initial

         14  assessment for the well- being of the family.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, let me see

         16  if I can clarify this a little bit.  So you are

         17  suggesting that when there is complaint or whatever,

         18  maybe domestic violence, in any home with children

         19  that ACS, or whoever is investigating, they should

         20  have some sort of screening as to the status of that

         21  child?

         22                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I think --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You know, I'm

         24  trying to see how we can get around the fact that --

         25                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I think any
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          2  assessment, I think where immigration status would

          3  come in is any assessment of difficulties faced by

          4  the family.  For example, many times false

          5  complaints are made.  Somebody goes to a household,

          6  they identify there is no set threat to the safety

          7  and well- being of the child. At such a point, I do

          8  not advocate screening for immigration status.  What

          9  I'm saying is if an assessment is made, that there

         10  is a problem in the household.  There is not

         11  adequate food.  There is not adequate housing.

         12  There is not adequate guardianship.  There is a

         13  domestic violence problem.  There is some other

         14  problem indicated in the family.  I'm suggesting

         15  that that other problem may well be linked to

         16  immigration status and at such a point, an

         17  immigration screening would be appropriate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes, but that

         19  goes back to the defense that Executive Order --

         20  they're not supposed to ask status. We have to find

         21  another way of really finding out the immigration

         22  status.  You heard the testimony of the

         23  Administration that they do not want to keep record

         24  of immigration and they want to abide by Executive

         25  Order 41.
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          2                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I think their

          3  language of Executive Order 41 is very clear that

          4  information about immigration status cannot be

          5  forwarded to federal immigration authorities just as

          6  other private information cannot be forwarded with

          7  the exception of those who are under investigation

          8  in connection with a criminal case.  Many agencies

          9  routinely must collect information about immigration

         10  status to perform their duties.

         11                 For example, the Human Resource

         12  Administration, HRA, every single application that

         13  comes through their door they must evaluate whether

         14  somebody is eligible for federally funded source or

         15  state funded source of assistance.  So there are

         16  other city agencies that can and do collect

         17  information on each and every family they work with.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, we might be

         19  able to say well listen find out if they do have

         20  social security cards instead of immigration status

         21  we can use another means, another way of really

         22  determining that by asking the question if there is

         23  an investigation as to domestic violence.  Maybe you

         24  want to go in further and say, well listen what's

         25  the social security number of each of the
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          2  individuals there so at least you can identify them

          3  that they are really documented individuals.  That's

          4  another way.

          5                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Just to clarify for

          6  the record, the Social Security Administration is a

          7  separate agency from any federal immigration

          8  authority and they're actually huge numbers of

          9  people.  Hundreds of thousands if not millions of

         10  people with valid social security numbers issued by

         11  the Social Security Administration who do not have

         12  any immigration status at all.

         13                 So while it is hard to obtain a

         14  social security number today if you do not have a

         15  certain kind of immigration status.  Unfortunately,

         16  it's a very rough correlation and there are large

         17  numbers of people with valid social security numbers

         18  who do not have immigration status.  Certainly a

         19  question with respect to whether household members

         20  are foreign- born is much more likely to be

         21  indicative if there may be an issue relating to

         22  immigration status.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, asking the

         24  question whether they're foreign- born you think

         25  should be the right question to ask in terms of the
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          2  investigation.  You're saying that whoever is doing

          3  the investigation that might be the appropriate

          4  question to ask.

          5                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I would certainly

          6  leave it to the experts at the Administration for

          7  Children's Services of how best to engage a family

          8  without alienating them and ensuring the safety and

          9  well- being of a child.  I think over the course of

         10  an investigation which I understand is open for 60

         11  days, it's information that may be obtained.  The

         12  most sensitive way to do so that also facilitates

         13  the well- being child I would leave to the experts

         14  at ACS.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  I'm

         16  just trying to get at a point where it can be direct

         17  that they get the information or not.  That's the

         18  question.

         19                 Earlier someone testified that their

         20  caseload is about 4,000 such cases that have

         21  problems.  Then we had another one testify that it's

         22  another 8,000.  If these agencies, per year dealing

         23  with so many people that find themselves in this

         24  situation, I don't understand why it's only 100 and

         25  something that ACS speaks about.  To me I can't
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          2  fathom, I can't understand why would you have in

          3  caseloads one agency dealing with 4,000 such cases

          4  that having problems as far as whether it's

          5  termination of parental rights, adoption,

          6  guardianship, custody.  All those things.  4,000.

          7  One agency and another 8,000.  I can't fathom how

          8  you only have a 100 and something application to

          9  have adjustments.  So, could you comment on that?

         10                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Well, I do not work

         11  for ACS I work for a private non- profit Sanctuary

         12  for Families.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         14                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I certainly would

         15  imagine from the statistics that are out there, the

         16  implication you're making I believe is correct that

         17  there are many cases that are being missed. That's

         18  certainly what those numbers tend to suggest.

         19  Without knowing how the government keeps records, I

         20  can't speak further to that.

         21                 MS. SCHWARZ:  Just for clarity, I

         22  provided the 8,000 number.  That was the number of

         23  young people who come to the door, not all for legal

         24  assistance.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right but you
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          2  say quite a lot of them come for legal assistance

          3  and I just want to know why is it only a 100 and

          4  something that has applied.  That the application

          5  was submitted for.  To me, I don't know if that's

          6  just ACS figures that they personally had a part in

          7  and it does not include all the other CVOs that are

          8  dealing with this issue.  I don't know.  I would

          9  just like to show that in some light.  At least for

         10  the amount of folks that are out there that are

         11  dealing with termination of parental rights, dealing

         12  with adoption and guardianship and all of those

         13  things.  I think it ought to be a lot more than 175

         14  or 180 applicants.

         15                 Even then we don't know how many are

         16  adjudicated each year.  We couldn't get that figure

         17  as to how many of that 175 that is adjudicated this

         18  year.  And that 175 is not a yearly number, that's

         19  what they have pending now I was told.  If we have

         20  so many case load.  4,000 in one agency.  I can be

         21  sure that there at least 50 or more agencies that

         22  may be doing just as much work. What happened to

         23  those folks?  I just want to be sure that we are

         24  seeking the right thing- we're doing the right

         25  thing.

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEES ON GENERAL WELFARE AND IMMIGRATION

          2                 Now, you spoke about this school

          3  system.  One of the question that you raised in my

          4  head is that should we at schools require that we

          5  try to establish now a social security number for a

          6  child in school?  If we cannot establish such a

          7  number, we will definitely know that the child might

          8  be or most likely is undocumented.  From there we

          9  can make special referral.  Is that what your

         10  suggestion is?

         11                 MS. SCHWARZ:  I believe I spoke about

         12  school issues. Honestly, I don't believe that

         13  getting the social security number is the most

         14  productive way at the schools.  The advantage of

         15  school is that the child is there everyday over a

         16  long period of time. So, there's a lot of

         17  opportunity for personal interaction among school

         18  officials about family issues.  There really isn't-

         19  it's not quite the same situation as an ACS worker

         20  who comes to the home and maybe has one opportunity

         21  to talk with the family.  We would like to see them

         22  marking down on some intake form what the country of

         23  origin is.

         24                 At school, when the child is being

         25  enrolled, the enrollment center should automatically
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          2  be providing just a legal referral sheet.  If there

          3  seems to be an immigrant issue and even if there

          4  doesn't, we at the Door and I'm sure every agency

          5  here, we have many, many, many kids who you would

          6  never guess they are immigrants.  They don't have an

          7  accent.  They've lived here since they were two.

          8  There's no reason to think that they are an

          9  immigrant.  If it were just a routine part of

         10  enrollment, specially when a child is being enrolled

         11  by a non- parent, that would do an enormous service

         12  to these kids.

         13                 We've had a lot of experience with

         14  wonderful guidance counselors in the schools who are

         15  aware of SIJS and refer their kids as soon as

         16  possible but there's no system for it.  It just

         17  happens to be the very helpful people who kind of

         18  figure it out or think there might be an issue.  Or

         19  even if they don't know anything and counter a

         20  really good student and are shocked that there's no

         21  way to help them.  But if there were some systemic

         22  way of raising awareness among school officials, I

         23  don't think you would have to get in to obtain this

         24  information.  You give a referral at enrollment and

         25  you educate as many counselors and teachers as
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          2  possible and they will hopefully be able to provide

          3  the kids with support to go seek legal advise.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I am concerned

          5  about identifying those kids because I have had the

          6  experience with a youngster who was in one of my

          7  high schools that was excellent student, A student.

          8  The top of his class in every- and the time when we

          9  now doing the work to get a scholarship to go to a

         10  different college now, we realized that this child

         11  is not documented.  In that case, this child and the

         12  parent, they were somehow afraid to even give the

         13  information because they- but this child- we wanted

         14  the child to get the scholarly to do all these

         15  things.  And it was only then we found out the child

         16  did not have a social security number to get that

         17  scholarship and continue.

         18                 So, my questions should be if we ask

         19  or try to assist them in getting a social security

         20  number earlier, we will know that they are not

         21  documented and then we will be able to look to see

         22  other things.  What do we have to do with referrals.

         23  That's what I was looking at.  Not necessarily to

         24  say, well, those who have Social Security numbers

         25  ready, but as you register, and because a lot of
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          2  time a child moves from daycare to primary school

          3  and from primary to intermediate and to high school

          4  and the information is being lost, because in school

          5  they're not required to have anything to say whether

          6  they are documented or not. Anything to really prove

          7  that's the case.  They find ways of really getting

          8  around that.  I'm just looking at the way of

          9  identifying those children.

         10                 MS. SCHWARZ:  Councilman Stewart, I

         11  just like to say I have a very strong concern about

         12  trying to force people to come up with social

         13  security numbers because I think the fear that you

         14  very correctly identified with your constituent is

         15  such that many families- it is not difficult in this

         16  city to buy a fake social security number and many,

         17  many people do.  People also, particularly with

         18  children, present false documents to the Department

         19  of Social Security.  I fear that while identifying

         20  young people who need help is a very important goal

         21  and I share with you and applaud the work that

         22  you're doing in this area.  If we put too much focus

         23  on social security numbers themselves, then we will

         24  in fact encourage people to obtain fake documents or

         25  present false documents to the Department of Social
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          2  Security, which is the very opposite of the goal.

          3  So, with that focus I fear that people will be

          4  terrified and whether we can come up with other ways

          5  to encourage people to voluntarily provide

          6  information that would lead to an appropriate

          7  referral.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What method do

          9  you recommend that we use to try to identify other

         10  than the use of the social security?  Is there any

         11  other in schools?

         12                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Yeah, I think-

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What

         14  recommendations would you have.

         15                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I think Ghita

         16  Schwarz provided an excellent point.  Children who

         17  are foreign- born, children who are registering with

         18  anyone other than their biological parent are two

         19  sort of giveaways that there may be a standard

         20  recommendation form of referral.  What I think,

         21  again I want to emphasize that I mentioned in my

         22  testimony, encouraging referrals in schools and

         23  systemic referrals is an excellent goal but without

         24  funding for legal services, all you have is

         25  referrals to agencies that cannot take their cases.
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          2  So the methods, I think, certainly a non biological

          3  parent as a registrant for a child is one, foreign-

          4  born is another but again the issue is more a

          5  systemic referral system with funding for services

          6  to which they might be referred.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I agree with

          8  you but there are many times the standards in which

          9  you can register a child in the school vary from

         10  school to school.  I would like to know that today

         11  you may have one parent of a family registering a

         12  child today and the child might be registered in the

         13  school.  Then the child has been abandoned in school

         14  in a sense and it continues but the child is already

         15  being with some guardian or somebody else and we

         16  missed that opportunity to help the child.  So, I

         17  just want to know there's some way we can identify

         18  that child in the school that may need the help.

         19                 In the beginning it might be one a

         20  parent family that come and register the child and

         21  the information that's been given it might not even

         22  be correct information.  Then later on that child,

         23  even though that child is in school, it might be

         24  some other guardianship or somebody else is in

         25  charge of that child at this time.  The child needs
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          2  that type of service.  How do we identify those

          3  children?  That's what I'm looking at.

          4                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Again, I really

          5  want to save the question of resources.  If the City

          6  were able to fund an immigrant resource counselor in

          7  every school in the City of New York I'm sure we'd

          8  be identifying many, many more families.  If the

          9  City could fund immigration legal services and

         10  people through word of mouth found out they were

         11  getting it through the schools, people would come

         12  forward.  I think, fundamentally, much of this is a

         13  question of resources.  The more services are

         14  available, the more people will access them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Someone

         16  mentioned earlier that you feel that the legal

         17  services should be done by an outside agency.  Could

         18  you explain or expand on that?  Why?  Even though it

         19  could be together, I want to know why you suggest

         20  that any legal services to help would, maybe with

         21  SIJS or all those immigration services, they should

         22  be an outside agency?

         23                 MS. CORTES:  My understanding from my

         24  colleagues and also from my experience is that

         25  providing immigration legal service appropriately
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          2  and correctly for the benefit of the person is not a

          3  very easy task, as you can probably imagine. It's a

          4  very complex area of practice.  There's a lot of

          5  things that, even I would imagine people who

          6  practice immigration 100% of the time still have

          7  difficulties sometimes to keep up with the changes,

          8  requirements, implications, sometimes the policy

          9  changes.  Practice has changed from district to

         10  district.  There are many things very- also

         11  immigration law is a very fluid area too.  My sense

         12  is that it would be helpful and I think it is

         13  working quite well under the circumstances how we're

         14  doing with the network of legal service providers

         15  outside the ACS to actually handle these cases

         16  instead of putting the burden within the ACS to

         17  handle not just from identifying the potential

         18  clients but also to keep up with all the immigration

         19  practice.  Following through the cases might be

         20  quite burdensome as well.

         21                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  If I could just add

         22  to make a comment, I actually want to say I think

         23  the City has done an excellent job providing

         24  immigration legal services.  Elaine Witty

         25  (phonetic), now with HRA, once ran an incredible
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          2  unit, which I would love to see come back, providing

          3  naturalization services to immigrants throughout New

          4  York City all run by city workers.  That was a very

          5  efficient and, I believe, very successful agency in

          6  providing immigration legal services.

          7                 Currently, through the CUNY

          8  Immigration Project initially started to serve

          9  people, either faculty or students within CUNY, and

         10  now really widened to serving community members

         11  throughout is an excellent legal service as CUNY is

         12  like a quasi government organization.  There's no

         13  reason per se in my opinion that ACS could not have

         14  an immigration legal unit.  The question is would

         15  you be able to staff immigration experts.  This is

         16  not something that Family Court attorneys, current

         17  ACS attorneys are Family Court attorneys, and that's

         18  one area of expertise.  If the City were in a

         19  position to fund immigration attorneys and expert

         20  immigration attorneys I think it could be done in-

         21  house or outside ACS, whichever seem most efficient

         22  to both ACS and the City as a whole.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, I don't

         24  think that my goal was to have ACS actually doing

         25  the legal immigration work.  At least they would
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          2  identify and at least train the people to identify

          3  those children that needed service and then make the

          4  appropriate referral.  That's just the main gist of

          5  it.  So, I hope they are not totally going to be

          6  filing the cases and doing all of that. What they

          7  should be doing is getting the children, identifying

          8  the children that need the services and making the

          9  appropriate referral to the agencies who (sic) job

         10  is specifically to deal with this type of issue.

         11  That's what I thought it was.

         12                 We will be looking at the budget to

         13  see how much we can help them do a staffing to make

         14  that happen, identifying children who really do need

         15  the help.  Whether it's within the ACS system or

         16  even outside if there's a way to do the referral.

         17                 Now, I have a question here I want to

         18  raise.  You mentioned basically earlier that you

         19  want referrals from clinics and hospitals.

         20  Referrals from clinics and hospitals, you're

         21  referring basically when you're talking about that

         22  you're saying you want the hospitals and clinics to

         23  refer to the agency that deal with immigration

         24  status for children and that would be able to

         25  determine the criteria?  If you know the criteria
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          2  already, are you saying that you want us to explain

          3  to the children or the parents within this system,

          4  the clinics and the hospital, and if you see that

          5  they need that type of service you refer them to CVO

          6  that's going to provide that service?

          7                 MS. SCHWARZ:  What I was suggesting

          8  was that, at the Door we see a number of young

          9  people who have had lengthy interactions with

         10  medical workers who may or may not have fulfilled

         11  their obligation as a mandated reporter to ACS.

         12  Many times they are doing that they are avoiding

         13  their responsibility because the child is

         14  undocumented and they're afraid it will result in a

         15  disaster for the young person when, in fact, if they

         16  had some information about immigration benefits

         17  available to these kids, they would be accomplishing

         18  a couple of different things that they should be

         19  doing already.  A lot of kids who are in medical

         20  crisis already see social workers.  Most of those

         21  social workers have no awareness that there may be

         22  free immigration rights providers out there who can

         23  help those kids.

         24                 So, in terms of funding for this

         25  program, I mean legal services providers are very--
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          2  we constantly do trainings at lots of different

          3  organizations as much as we can but we would like to

          4  see more opportunity for us to do that especially in

          5  the medical community where we've seen a lot of gaps

          6  for the undocumented kids.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, you're

          8  saying that basically those social workers have to

          9  be trained to know the different legal immigration

         10  benefits that such child may be able to get.

         11                 MS. SCHWARZ:  It's more that if the

         12  social worker identifies that a child may need

         13  immigration assistance they should be able to give

         14  these young people referrals.  It took, I can't

         15  speak for everybody but, it took me quite a long

         16  time to figure out a lot of these benefits.  I

         17  wouldn't expect someone who's already a medical

         18  worker or a teacher to understand all the nuances.

         19  But people do understand the difference between

         20  documented and undocumented and they should be able

         21  to provide, at minimum, a list of legal referrals so

         22  that the kids can follow- up and try to get some

         23  information.  Even if these kids have no benefits

         24  available to them, they're doing an enormous service

         25  by preventing them from going to a fraudulent
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          2  immigration attorney or paralegal who is going to

          3  take thousands of their dollars and not do anything

          4  for them.  So it's more just talking about an

          5  outreach campaign just to get kids to legal

          6  resources.  And, again, with Ms. Dinnerstein and

          7  with everybody else, of course if you're going to do

          8  that you do need to be able to fund the immigration

          9  legal providers to do that work.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, but

         11  the folks who identifying whether they're documented

         12  or not you talking about the social service worker

         13  and they will then refer them to the appropriate

         14  agency that might be able to help them.  The social

         15  workers doesn't really have to know all the benefits

         16  but all they need to know is that this person most

         17  likely might be undocumented and so we refer them to

         18  the right place.

         19                 MS. SCHWARZ:  Yes, I mean of course

         20  it would be ideal if they knew everything but at

         21  bottom what we want is for these kids to have access

         22  to competent immigrant's rights practitioner and we

         23  don't expect that of-

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you have any

         25  idea how many agency that you feel that might have
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          2  the competency in the lawyers and all of that to

          3  deal with immigration issues as far as kids are

          4  concerned?  How many of these CVOs that you feel

          5  that we have out there?

          6                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I mean, everybody

          7   --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You think we

          9  have adequate?

         10                 MS. SCHWARZ:  We have probably the

         11  right number of agencies.

         12

         13                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Yeah, we were

         14  saying 15 or 20, I'm just trying to think of an

         15  informal list we have in the city. Maybe 15 or 20.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  These folks are

         17  actually doing work with the City already?  They get

         18  referrals from the City already?

         19                 MS. SCHWARZ:  Yes, taking referrals

         20  from-

         21                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  I don't know what

         22  the actual list of ACS is.  I mean I think my crew

         23  could speak to that but these are 15 to 20 agencies

         24  that could, if they're not already taking referrals

         25  from the City, could be in a position to do so.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And so, if

          3  there are a sizable amount of- if they're all doing

          4  work as far as immigration is concerned.  You feel

          5  that we'd be able to get some sort of a clear cut

          6  what it cost to provide that type of service from

          7  each of these groups?

          8                 MS. SCHWARZ:  I'm sure many of us

          9  could work on a-

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Because I know

         11  a lot of them is pro bono and whatever but at least

         12  we get an idea and if ACS based on a SIJS program

         13  they pay a certain amount of money but there might

         14  be other cases that you guys do.  I just want to get

         15  a picture of around what it will cost to deal with

         16  providing the type of service for a child.

         17                 MS. SCHWARZ:  I'd be happy to follow-

         18  up with your office but I would have to check with

         19  my finance office to determine what the cost is per

         20  person served in our legal service program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         22                 Now, what I think -- let me see who

         23  is this.  Was this Catholic Charities.  All right.

         24                 Emiko, you said basically we believe

         25  that if the City offered reasonable foster care or
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          2  alternative guardianship arrangements for these

          3  children they will have a real chance to pursue

          4  their case more thoroughly.  Why you say that all

          5  for a reason to have a foster care?  I'm trying to

          6  see why would you make a statement like that if they

          7  are not doing it right now.

          8                 MS. CORTES:  Again, I apologize, my--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You said that

         10  we believe that if the City offered reasonable

         11  foster care or alternative guardianship arrangements

         12  for these children, they will have a real chance to

         13  pursue their cases more thoroughly and not have to

         14  make negative decisions.

         15                 MS. CORTES:  Right.  I believe that,

         16  again, my colleague has more experience and

         17  knowledge about this particular case that I'll be

         18  happy to provide more information later on if you

         19  wish.  Basically, I think in addition to what I said

         20  earlier about having the outside providers provide

         21  the legal service is also these cases that fall

         22  through or not even come in contact with the ACS

         23  needs a service and with a greater urgency.  Not

         24  only these cases in the federal detention but also

         25  the guardianship case and others that doesn't come
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          2  through the ACS.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

          4  want to thank you folks for giving me some insight

          5  into some of the issues and I hope that we can use

          6  your recommendations.  We will be reaching out to

          7  ACS to, at least, see if we can put some of these

          8  recommendations into practice.  We'll be reaching

          9  out to you again to follow on this.

         10                 I want to thank you again each and

         11  every one of you because we'll be following through

         12  on this.  We want to make sure that we half make a

         13  dent in this process to help youngsters who might

         14  need this service.

         15                 MS. DINNERSTEIN:  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

         18                 This meeting is adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 4:16 p.m.)
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